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He mihi tēnei nā te Kaumātua

E ngā mana, e ngā reo, e ngā kārangaranga tāngata tēnā koutou katoa 
kua huri kanohi mai ki tō tātou kuratini ki Te Tai Tokerau Wānanga. Ki 
a koutou katoa e tirihia nei i tēnei pukapuka, ko te reo maioha tēnei e 
tangi atu nei, tēnā koutou katoa.

Ka huri atu ki te hunga kua wehe atu ki te pō. Kāti rā ki a koutou e kui 
mā e kara mā, takoto mai koutou i te moenga o te hunga e kore e hoki 
whakamuri mai. Takoto mai, takoto mai, takoto mai rā.

Āpiti hono, tātai hono, ko rātou te hunga mate ki a rātou; āpiti hono 
tātai hono, ko tātou te hunga ora ki a tātou. Tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou, 
tēnā koutou katoa.

As the Kaumātua here at our place of learning, it is both my honour 
and great pleasure to join with the Chief Executive/Te Ahurei, Wayne 
Jackson, and Council Chair, Jane Hindle, to express my greetings, 
salutations and a warm-hearted welcome to this storehouse of 
knowledge, Tai Tokerau Wānanga, NorthTec. Welcome once, twice, 
three times welcome.

Te Tai Tokerau Wānanga, NorthTec, is a ‘mover and shaker’ helping to 
shape the future of Te Tai Tokerau and its communities. I am very proud 
to be a part of it and I hope you will be too. 

Kia ora tātou katoa.

Nā Hohepa Rudolph, Kaumātua 
Te Tai Tokerau Wānanga, NorthTec

KIA ORA  
WELCOME TO NORTHTEC
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Left to right:  Wayne Jackson (Chief Executive (Acting)), Bronwyn Yates, Kate Cherrington,  
  Ken Eastwood, Eru Lyndon, Jane Hindle (Chair)

  Absent: Murray Bain

OUR 2019  
COUNCIL
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OUR ROLE IN 
TE TAI TOKERAU

In 2019, NorthTec delivered education from campuses and centres in 
Whangārei, Dargaville, Kaikohe, Kerikeri and and Kaitaia, as well as 
teaching off-campus at community-based sites and at our international 
campus in Auckland.

Northland Te Tai Tokerau is New Zealand’s least urbanised region, with 
nearly 189,000 residents spread across approximately 13,800 square 
kilometres, and only half of the population living in urban environments. 
It has experienced considerable population growth over the past 
five years, with a number of residents moving from Auckland to take 
advantage of lower property prices and a more relaxed lifestyle.

The region has a large Māori population, with around 33 per cent of 
the population identifying as Māori. Improvement of Māori learner 
achievement, and increased Māori participation at diploma and degree 
level study, are important issues for NorthTec.

The total number of students enrolled at NorthTec in 2019 was 
6,744, corresponding to 2,745 Equivalent Full Time Students (EFTS). 
International students made up 13 per cent of our total student number, 
with 865 students across our Whangārei and Auckland campuses.

In 2019, we undertook preparations to become part of the New Zealand 
Institute of Skills and Technology, joining together to become one 
institution working in collaboration with the country’s other polytechnics 
and Industry Training Organisations.

NorthTec’s vision is “Better lives through education”, and our mission is 
to grow the economic, environmental, cultural and social prosperity of 
Northland Te Tai Tokerau through vocational education.

We do this through the continued provision of high quality education and 
support to our students, developing our portfolio to meet the changing 
demands of our region’s learners, and working together with a broad 
range of community, industry and iwi/hapū stakeholders.

NorthTec Tai Tokerau Wānanga is the only Institute of Technology and Polytechnic 
(ITP) and the largest tertiary education provider in the Northland Te Tai Tokerau 
region. We deliver more than 100 short award, certificate, diploma, graduate 
diploma and degree level programmes throughout the region, and have provided 
practical, quality education since 1978.
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MESSAGE FROM 
COUNCIL CHAIR

I am writing this commentary as we go 
through the Covid-19 lockdown, which has 
had dramatic effects on New Zealanders and 
on the educational system in New Zealand.

However I am confident in the future and, 
in particular, the role NorthTec will play in 
providing vocational education, to support 
Northland’s economic and social recovery.

The 2019 academic year was a difficult year for the vocational 
education sector, with falling enrolment numbers as a result of the 
strong employment market, in Northland and throughout New Zealand. 
This decline meant that we were making unsustainable financial losses.

The Council took a decision to fundamentally change the way the 
organisation operated. This reorganisation was designed to build the 
foundation for a strong recovery over the next three years by refocusing 
our educational delivery to meet the changed needs of the Northland 
community.

Our business plan focused on maintaining our traditional programme 
delivery, while also designing a portfolio to appeal to the in-work 
population of our region. This is aimed at helping people to upskill while 
working, with a range of products in the pipeline for 2020 delivery, 
including a series of online programmes.

We further developed our core portfolio of programmes with several 
new qualifications planned for delivery in 2020. These included the 
New Zealand Diploma in Enrolled Nursing and the development of our 
first micro-credential, also in nursing. Other new programmes are also 
planned for 2020, including a large number of web-based courses.

We also began a major programme of maintenance and improvements 
to our campuses. This was aimed at addressing under-investment in our 
facilities over previous years, through a series of essential maintenance 
projects, and improving the physical appearance and functionality of 
our campuses. 

A Vibrant Campus committee was formed to bring together staff from 
different areas of the organisation, and a project plan was developed 
for work during 2019 and 2020. This included external painting of 
buildings; improving signage; installing new plinths displaying our values 
on all campuses; installing artwork designed by our students; relocating 
the reception and installing a gym and a performance theatre in an 
unused building at the Raumanga campus.

Investment in technology saw Zoom rooms and learning hubs 
established which have been a boon with the advent of Covid-19.

We are pleased to report that our educational outcomes remained 
strong in 2019, with signs that the gap in educational success between 
Māori and non-Māori learners is closing.

We budgeted for a financial loss in 2019, reflecting the costs of change. 
We produced a better-than-budget result for the year, preserving our 
cash resources to support us in the future.

The sector-wide change programme to integrate New Zealand’s 
Polytechnics and Industry Training Organisations within one vocational 
training entity placed a great deal of pressure on staff, particularly 
those closely involved with the design of the new functions for the New 
Zealand Institute of Skills and Technology, which came into existence 
on 1 April 2020.

We are well placed to enjoy the benefits of the new organisation with 
greater access to resources to meet the challenges of delivering 
vocational education to our widespread region.

The Board is extremely grateful to Wayne Jackson for stepping down as 
Chair and picking up this challenge as Acting Chief Executive. I’d also 
like to acknowledge the rest of our Council who have worked so hard 
together over the past couple of years, bringing their different skills to 
the table, but always with the learner at the heart of their focus. 

This is the final annual report of NorthTec in its current form, as we 
are now a subsidiary of the new national organisation. The majority of 
the Council finished at the end of March 2020, confident that we are 
handing over a reinvigorated NorthTec, ready to be part of the future 
new entity so that our learners can stand proud wherever they are in the 
world. 

Nō reira tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou katoa.

Jane Hindle    

Council Chair
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OUR 2019  
SENIOR  

LEADERSHIP TEAM
Wayne Jackson
Chief Executive (Acting)

Director Demand Management (Acting) (16th September to 31st December)

Hohepa Rudolph 
Kaumātua

Phil Alexander Crawford                               
Director Demand Management  (1st January to 15th September)  

Director Transition (16th September to 31st December)

Jon Smith
Director International and Director Products and Delivery (8th May to 31st December)

Darrell Lambert
Director Outcomes (1st January to 31st March)  

Director Academic Delivery (1st April to 7th May)  

Director Ōritetanga (8th May to 10th November)

Jonathan Slavich
Chief Financial Officer (1st January to 7th April) 

Director Corporate Services (8th April to 31st December)

Kristin Rewha-Langdon
Director Corporate Solutions (1st January to 7th April)  
Director Student Management & People Operations (8th April to 31st December)
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2019 
AT A GLANCE

A summary of financial and  
non-financial key measures



SUMMARY OF 
FINANCIAL  
INFORMATION

TOTAL 
COMPREHENSIVE 

REVENUE & EXPENSE 

$5.33m
OPERATING SURPLUS/ (Deficit): 

($4.83m) 

WORKING  
CAPITAL

$3.63m

TOTAL EQUITY

$51.36 m

TOTAL REVENUE

$36.28m
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SUMMARY OF 
NON-FINANCIAL  

INFORMATION

STUDENT ETHNICITY
MĀORI PASIFIKA

MoE-funded EFTS  
- all students 

57%

MoE-funded EFTS  
- all students 

7%
Headcount  

- all students 

36%

Headcount  
- all students 

5%

STUDENT GENDER

40% Female 60% Male

6,744
STUDENTS 
ENROLLED 
(Headcount)

Formal programmes of study 
that lead to a qualification

EFTS by Programme Level 
for all MoE-funded students

Level 1 - 3   784 

Level 4 - 7        598 
Non Degree

Level 7        390 
Degree 

Under 17 
years 7.5%

17 - 19 
years 15.4%

20 - 24 
years 17.6%

33%25 + 
years 59.5%

Students by  
AGE GROUP

MoE-Funded EFTS

1,772

112
NUMBER OF 

PROGRAMMES OF 
STUDY

82%

COURSE  
SUCCESS RATE 

(all students)

Headcount  
(all students)  

865

% of Headcount  
(all students) 

13%

INTERNATIONAL

2,745 TOTAL EFTS 
(ALL STUDENTS)
EFTS = EQUIVALENT FULL-TIME STUDENT

13



OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH AND 
SAFETY
NorthTec is committed to the health and safety of staff, students and the 
visitors to our campuses. We are continually reviewing and developing 
our procedures and processes to ensure we have comprehensive 
arrangements to enable NorthTec to meet the requirements of the Health 
and Safety at Work Act 2015. 

During 2019 we continued to update policies to enable the above goal 
to be realised. The Health and Safety Strategy has been refreshed, 
and supporting the strategy, a detailed work plan has been developed. 
Work continues on reinforcing good practice in a forward direction, 
and has included external consultation where necessary. The majority 
of the recommendations from the 2018 chemical safety review have 
been implemented with several items included in future capital works 
plans. A Machine Guarding review was extensive and the high risk 
recommendations have been implemented with some of the less urgent 
items still being completed in early 2020. 

Further work within the Emergency Management framework has seen the 
development of a Lockdown protocol for all campuses in the event of an 
emergency situation. This protocol will be rolled out in early 2020.

In addition to the above work, the health and safety strategy going forward 
includes: 

• Examination of the safety provisions of student work placements. 

• A review of our worker engagement model to develop further 
ways to include the skills and experience of our health and safety 
representatives in the management of health and safety at NorthTec.

• A review of the health component of health and safety to identify 
and quantify the health risks to staff and actions required to mitigate 
these risks. 

• Work will continue to develop a proactive positive safety culture 
based upon the Safety Differently and Safety II principles.
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2019 
STUDENT SURVEYS

NorthTec uses formal and informal methods to obtain feedback from current students, graduates, key employers and industry partners. In 2019, SIL 
Research continued to facilitate these surveys to provide an overview of how well NorthTec is meeting the needs of our stakeholders. During 2019, a total of 
2,586 people engaged with the NorthTec surveys.  

Students, graduates and employers were somewhat to very satisfied with NorthTec (using a 1-5 scale with 5 being the upper score). 

The 2018 Net Promotor Score for all students was a positive 32 per cent (Good, +3 v 2018), meaning that students were more likely to recommend 
NorthTec. The 2019 Net Promotor Score for graduates was a very high positive 38 per cent (Good, -3 v 2018) indicating that graduates are very likely to 
recommend NorthTec as a place to study or upskill.

Footnote 
SIL Research is a full service research company and is obliged to comply with the Research Association of  
New Zealand (RANZ) code of practice. Based on global Net Promotor Score (NPS) standards, any score  
above 0 would be considered “good.” +50 is “excellent,” and above 70 is considered “world class.” 

Scale: 1 = Very dissatisfied, 2 = Somewhat dissatisfied, 3 = Neither dissatisfied or satisfied, 4 = Somewhat satisfied, 5 = Very satisfied  

4.72/5.00
NorthTec 

programmes are well 
designed

4.72/5.00
NorthTec tutors 
support student 

learning

4.75/5.00 NorthTec is 
student-focused

NorthTec is a good place to study4.76/5.00

4.76/5.00
NorthTec is responsive to my 

learning needs
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2019 
HIGHLIGHTS

Forestry pilot programme launched in Far North 
NorthTec staff delivered a pilot forestry programme to inmates at the 
Northern Region Corrections Facility in Ngawha, where 10 men graduated 
from the NZ Certificate in Forest Industry Foundation Skills (Level 2). 
The Te Uru Rakau planting work-to-release programme, a collaboration 
between Corrections and the Ministry for Primary Industries, involved 
planting native trees in the community as part of the government’s Billion 
Trees initiative. The 12-week, Level 2 course was specially designed by 
NorthTec, with eight weeks of theory and four weeks’ practical, working 
from 8am to 4pm every day, earning market-related wages, under escort 
by two Corrections officers. 

International Rally brings a rare opportunity for NorthTec students 
NorthTec’s Future Trades campus was used by many rally teams as a pit 
stop to get their cars ready ahead of the International Rally competition 
held in Whāngarei in May. This gave students completing the New Zealand 
Certificate in Automotive Engineering (Level 3) the rare and invaluable 
opportunity to work alongside internationally-recognised teams prominent 
on the world stage.

Strong NorthTec representation at nursing student hui 
The 15 NorthTec Māori nursing students attending the annual Hui-a-Tau 
conference in Whakatāne were the largest representation from NorthTec 
to attend the event. Each year the National Council of Māori Nurses 
organises the event to encourage and support Māori nursing students 
from all over New Zealand. It was hosted this year in Whakatane by Te 
Whare Wānanga o Awanuiārangi and Ngati Awa. The three-day event held 
in early May involved an AGM, several speakers, and presentations and 
waiata from the participating students.

NorthTec involved in Whangārei’s Hihiaua Cultural Centre 
NorthTec had a large involvement in the opening exhibition - Terenga 
Mai - of the newly opened Hihiaua Cultural Centre, a significant milestone 
for Māori Arts in Te Tai Tokerau. A total of 15 students, 17 graduates and 
three tutors displayed their art. Three of NorthTec’s Maunga Kura Toi 
(Bachelor of Māori Art) students also worked alongside local artist and 
Creative Northland’s Creative Advisor, Lenny Murupaenga, to help with 
the curation of the exhibition – a valuable experience for the students. 

A collaboration to tackle the nursing shortage in Northland 
NorthTec announced a collaboration with the Northland District Health 
Board to help previous Registered Nurses back into nursing, as demand 
for nurses grows across Te Tai Tokerau region. The programme focuses 
solely on supporting Registered Nurses back into practice, with an 
adapted, flexible programme offering a part-time option for clinical 
placement over four to six weeks. Tutors also provide one-to-one support 
in clinical placements and online. This comes after an agreement was 
signed between the Ministry of Health, District Health Boards and the New 
Zealand Nurses Organisation to address the workforce shortage across 
New Zealand.

Cosy cabins built by NorthTec carpentry students 
NorthTec carpentry students are helping to improve living conditions in 
the Far North by building insulated cabins. The project, Kapene Te Rarawa, 
is an initiative between NorthTec and local iwi, Te Rarawa, and was born 
from Northland’s housing need. The cabins can be placed near the main 
house and have power but no plumbing, and aim to provide extra space 
that reduces pressure and improves living conditions in the house. The 
project aims to complete a maximum of 20 cabins a year between Kaitaia 
and Future Trades campuses.

Introducing: The Cooking Collective 
NorthTec piloted evening and weekend cooking classes for the general 
public to learn how to cook and prepare new and exciting food at the 
Apprentice Restaurant. The new initiative, called The Cooking Collective, 
grew from an idea targeting people in the local Whangārei community 
who have a passion for cooking and want to learn more, from professional 
chefs in first-rate kitchen facilities, from our NorthTec tutors. There were 
18 classes held in total between October to December and it was deemed 
a huge success.

Tuakana Teina Hui 2019 held at NorthTec 
The Tuakana Teina Hui was hosted at NorthTec in collaboration with the 
New Zealand Nurses Organisation Te Rūnanga ō Te Taitokerau. The Hui 
is held each year as a way to introduce Māori nursing students to the 
Māori nursing community in Te Tai Tokerau. It fosters whanaungatanga 
(relationships) and manaakitanga (support) through kotahitanga 
(togetherness) and mātauranga Māori (Māori ways of knowing). The 
day was filled with lots of inspiring and invigorating presenters, with the 
kaupapa (theme) around building resilience in nursing practice.
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Tupe Ake Programme teaches forestry skills 
A group of 25 students graduated from the newly-launched Tupe Ake 
programme in September. The students are all employees of Forestry 
Protection Services and graduated with NorthTec’s New Zealand 
Certificate in Forest Industry Foundation Skills Level 2. 

Tracking litter to bring about change 
NorthTec Environmental Management tutor, Dr Manue Martinez, has 
been working on a new research project, called the Te Tai Tokerau Debris 
Monitoring Project, alongside the Northland Regional Council (NRC) to 
track where and how much rubbish is being found and picked up all over 
Northland. The project utilises a freely-available mobile app to track the 
location as well as how much and what type of rubbish gets picked up. 
The aim of this project is help educate people about their behaviour, as 
well as analyse the results to prevent the negative effects on our marine 
and coastal ecosystems, wildlife and our health. The more data that is 
collected, the more accurate the results are that can be passed on to 
local councils and government. 

First micro-credential launched at NorthTec 
NorthTec is proud to have launched its first micro-credential to meet 
the demand in the healthcare industry, in collaboration with Northland 
District Health Board. The Assessing Professional Competency for 
Health Professionals micro-credential is designed for qualified and 
registered health professionals to equip them with the skills and ability 
to assess competency in practice. The micro-credential is delivered 
online, with 50 hours of learning across 16 weeks. It is designed for 
learners to start at any time when they are ready, with rolling intake 
dates.

Māori Education Trust Scholarships 
NorthTec announced, in partnership with the Toitū Māori Kaupapa 
Mātauranga (Māori Education Trust), 22 scholarships for Māori students 
at NorthTec for 2020. 

NorthTec Environmental Management student discovered larvae of 
flies  
A NorthTec Environmental Management student discovered the larvae 
of a genus (group) of flies that have never been found in New Zealand 
before. Although the adult flies have been seen in New Zealand, this 
discovery is significant to the environmental industry. With a lot of 
persistence, hard work and dedication, Kelsie Hackett is pleased that 
her discovery was recognised by Environmental Scientists in New 
Zealand.

Rest Home Olympics 2019 
NorthTec Sport and Recreation students organised and coordinated the 
various games at the annual Rest Home Olympics, where people from 
15 rest homes took part in November. The event, held every year for at 
least the last decade, is a strong partnership between local rest home 
staff, carers, NorthTec, Northland Parafed, Radius Care staff, Whangārei 
District Council’s Positive Ageing Advisory Group (PAAG) members and 
its Community Development team.

NorthTec addressing nursing shortage with new programme 
NorthTec and Northland DHB worked in partnership to enhance the 
Northland nursing workforce and meet the demand caused by a 
national nursing shortage. NorthTec is offering a Diploma in Enrolled 
Nursing, an 18-month programme that will lead graduates to register 
as an Enrolled Nurse to Nursing Council of New Zealand (NCNZ). In 
July 2018, representatives of the New Zealand Nurses Organisation 
(NZNO), District Health Boards (DHBs) and the Ministry of Health signed 
an Accord, committing the parties to ensuring that there are sufficient 
nurses in New Zealand public hospitals to ensure both their own and 
their patients’ safety. The collaboration ensures that Enrolled Nurses are 
part of this solution.

Preparing for the opening exhibition - Terenga Mai - of the newly opened Hihiaua Cultural Centre.  
This image shows the artwork by Whangārei carver, Peneamine Werohia, being installed as part of the exhibition.
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Statement of
SERVICE 

PERFORMANCE



VISION TIROHANGA
Better lives through education

GOALS WHĀINGA
 5 Measurably great ākonga outcomes

 5 Clear commitment to Te Tiriti o Waitangi

 5 High quality, supported and accountable staff

 5 Future focused programmes

 5 Equitable access for all learners

 5 Strong partnerships with our stakeholders

 5 Robust financial management

 5 Effective and respected systems and processes

 5 Valued communication

WHAKAEA
Ambition

We create and role model ambition and 
leadership

HIRANGA
Excellence

We take pride in everything we do 

AROTAHI
Focus

We put the success of our ākonga and our 
team at the centre of all we do

TUTIKA
Accountability

We each take personal responsibility for 
achieving our purpose 

VALUES UARA

PURPOSE KAUPAPA
We exist so that the economic, environmental, 
cultural and social prosperity of Te Tai Tokerau 
Northland grows through education

THE NORTHTEC 
STRATEGY
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Tertiary 
Education 

Commission 
Priorities

Priority 1: 
Delivering skills 

for industry

Priority 2: 
Getting at-risk 
young people 
into a career

Priority 6: 
Growing 

international 
linkages

Priority 5: 
Strengthening research-

based institutions

Priority 4: 
Improving adult 

literacy and 
numeracy

Priority 3: 
Boosting 

achievement of 
Māori and 

Pasifika

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION 
PRIORITIES
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STATEMENT OF 
SERVICE  
PERFORMANCE

Introduction
This Statement of Service Performance reports our outcomes and associated impacts as against the strategic priorities set by TEC in accordance 
with their outcome framework. The output provided by NorthTec to support these outcomes is providing education and training to students 
(teaching and learning) and support services (essential services to support teaching and learning). Over 2019, it is estimated that NorthTec 
provided approximately 127,000 teaching hours. 
The following illustrates where we deliver our teaching and learning output and key delivery statistics (excluding support services) for these 
locations.

KAITAIA
KERIKERI

KAIKOHE

WHANGĀREI

AUCKLAND

DARGAVILLE

KAITAIA 
EFTS: 185 
FTE: 11 
Revenue: $2,277 
Contribution: $1,044

KERIKERI 
EFTS: 39 
FTE: 2 
Revenue: $397 
Contribution: $225

KAIKOHE 
EFTS: 238 
FTE: 162 
Revenue: $2,641 
Contribution: $1,179

WHANGĀREI 
EFTS: 1,597 
FTE: 134 
Revenue: $20,328 
Contribution: $6,337

AUCKLAND 
EFTS: 532 
FTE: 35 
Revenue: $6,989 
Contribution: $2,096

ONLINE + OTHER 
EFTS: 170 
FTE: 4 
Revenue: $1,730 
Contribution: $465

DARGAVILLE 
EFTS: 185 
FTE: 11 
Revenue: $2,277 
Contribution: $1,044
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The below table provides a faculty view of the output revenue earned and expenses incurred, including comparatives:   
       

Summary Output 
Revenue and Costs
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Teaching 
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by 
Faculty Su
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Total 
Output

2019 Actual

Revenue 4,775 3,951 2,645 3,670 4,986 3,615 2,023 1,099 8,231 34,995 1,287 36,282

Expenses 3,715 2,117 1,487 2,250 1,886 2,452 966 898 6,449 22,219 18,889 41,108

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 1,060 1,834 1,158 1,420 3,100 1,163 1,057 201 1,782 12,776 (17,602) (4,826)

2019 Budget

Revenue 5,901 4,023 2,495 3,979 5,319 4,703 2,200 1,046 8,226 37,891 944 38,835

Expenses 4,097 2,186 1,776 2,295 2,213 4,155 1,078 917 7,660 26,377 16,818 43,195

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 1,804 1,838 719 1,684 3,105 547 1,122 130 565 11,514 (15,874) (4,360)

2018 Actual

Revenue 4,838 4,065 2,649 4,165 4,690 4,953 1,796 1,220 6,402 34,779 2,191 36,970

Expenses 3,525 2,076 1,376 2,449 1,751 3,001 825 839 4,722 20,563 20,175 40,738

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 1,313 1,990 1,273 1,716 2,940 1,952 971 381 1,680 14,215 (17,984) (3,768)
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The EFTS for particular industries in the investment plan are as follows (note that there are no actual targets for 2019, just an indication 

of an overall trend from 2017 to 2020):

     
                                                      2017 Baseline 2020 Target 2019 Actual

Primary Industries 198 229 155

Forestry 245 169 78

Carpentry 386 354 303

Engineering 583 411 352

Travel and Tourism                                                                  6 15 18

Hairdressing                                                                            40 51 48

Health                                                                                     483 486 393

Science                                                                                     68 38 87

Road Transport                                                                      67 87 83

NorthTec has decided not to report the performance information on expected graduates as we believe this only provides one view of a successful outcome measure for 
example many of our students leave courses and qualifications before completing these to take up skilled employment (due to the skills acquired to date).
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Student participation 
In 2019, we delivered training and education to 6,744 students. Of 
these, 5,883 were domestic students including 115 Youth Guarantee, 
341 Adult Community Education, 147 Industry Training Organisation 
and 676 STAR and Trades Academy, as well as 865 international 
students. This equates to 2,745 EFTS – 2,198 domestic and 547 
international – located throughout Te Tai Tokerau and Auckland.

The continuous focus on improving outcomes for all students 
is informed by increasingly robust data and information in an 
organisation with effective teaching and learning, solid educational 
performance indicators, and good evidence of valued outcomes for 
graduates.

STUDENT PARTICIPATION Draft Target Actual 
     (unaudited) 
SAC students   2019 2019 2018
ALL STUDENTS

  
Levels 1 - 3   44.01% N/A 45.35% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 33.79% N/A 33.78%

Level 7 (degree)   22.09% N/A 20.65%

MĀORI
  

Levels 1 - 3   66.88% 44% 58.52% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 49.16% 52% 49.92%

Level 7 (degree)   46.29% 30% 47.38%

PASIFIKA
  

Levels 1 - 3   8.47% 3% 6.91% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 5.69% 3% 5.12%

Level 7 (degree)   7.42% 8% 9.16%

Course completion
Overall, learners at NorthTec achieve well. This reflects NorthTec’s 
commitment to “Better Lives through Education” with a focus on 
successful outcomes for students at all levels. Course completions 
for all students remain strong at 81 per cent, with completion rates 
varying across the organisation with excellent outcomes in some 
programmes, favourable trends in others, and others identifying 
ways to improve with some early indications of success. For Student 
Achievement Component (SAC)-funded students, successful course 
completions increased to 79 per cent overall in 2019, from 76 per 
cent in 2018.

COURSE COMPLETION Draft Target Actual 
     (unaudited) 
SAC students   2019 2019 2018 
ALL STUDENTS

 
Overall    79.25% N/A 76.30% 

 
Levels 1 - 3   71.89% N/A 68.30% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 80.90% N/A 77.10%

Level 7 (degree)   91.68% N/A 92.80%
 
MĀORI

 
Overall    75.52% 76% 73.10% 

 
Levels 1 - 3   69.07% N/A 65.80% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 78.17% N/A 74.20%

Level 7 (degree)   89.71% N/A 91.00%

PASIFIKA
 

Overall    69.65% 79% 75.60% 
 

Levels 1 - 3   62.19% N/A 70.60% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 70.46% N/A 73.00%

Level 7 (degree)   85.44% N/A 86.30%

N/A: Not an Investment Plan requirement in 2019

For the 2019 Annual Report NorthTec has used the EFTS-based computation rather than the cohorts-based computation to disclose the figures for the qualification 
completion and progression measures.
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Qualification completion 
Qualification completion rates, using TECs cohort methodology, for 
all students is 62 per cent for 2019. SAC-funded students performed 
well with students at Level 2 exceeding 2019 targets. This can be 
attributed to a review of Level 2 programmes exited and offered, to 
better meet the needs of our stakeholders. 

QUALIFICATION COMPLETION Draft Target Actual 
     (unaudited) 
SAC students   2019 2019 2018 
ALL STUDENTS

 
Overall    58.20% N/A 62.50% 

 
Levels 1 - 3   65.00% N/A 63.60% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 46.20% N/A 59.30%

Level 7 (degree)   72.80% N/A 72.30%

MĀORI
 

Overall    53.50% N/A 56.00% 
 

Levels 1 - 3   57.50% N/A 58.50% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 43.80% N/A 50.80%

Level 7 (degree)   66.70% N/A 64.70%

PASIFIKA
 

Overall    48.60% 79% 61.10% 
 

Levels 1 - 3   44.80% N/A 62.10% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 51.50% N/A 59.10%

Level 7 (degree)   66.70% N/A 60.00%

Student Retention
The focus on our qualification completion at Levels 3 and 4 has seen 
an improvement in 2019 with more work to be done in 2020.

STUDENT RETENTION Draft Target Actual 
     (unaudited) 
SAC students   2019 2019 2018 
ALL STUDENTS

Levels 4 - 7 51.60% N/A 53.80%

Level 7 (Degree) 75.10% N/A 77.20%

MĀORI

Levels 4 - 7 42.90% 46% 49.20%

Level 7 (Degree) 70.90% 72% 77.80%

PASIFIKA

Levels 4 - 7 57.10% 40% 23.10%

Level 7 (Degree) 66.70% 71% 69.20%

Student Progression

STUDENT PROGRESSION Draft Target Actual  
   (unaudited) 
SAC students 2019 2019 2018 
ALL STUDENTS

Levels 1 - 3 30.40% N/A 27.30%

Levels 4 - 7 26.90% N/A 31.10%

MĀORI

Levels 1 - 3 27.10% 39% 30.40%

Levels 4 - 7 34.70% N/A 26.60%

PASIFIKA 

Levels 1 - 3 30.40% 35% 25.30%

Levels 4 - 7 25.00% N/A 37.00%

First year retention for all students was 69 per cent, 6 per cent 
higher than 2018. Progression rates remain slightly below target.  
NorthTec has identified this as an area for improvement, particularly 
in lifting the expectations of students to achieve higher-level 
qualifications in Te Tai Tokerau.

We have better understanding of the consistency of our educational 
performance across our programme areas, year-on-year and by 
location. There has been a clear emphasis on evidence-based actions 
and improvements using accurate and timely data. Individual student 
achievement is well understood and monitored.

This has been backed up by our central support services, which are 
appreciated by students who value the careful attention to their 
academic needs to ensure their progress and success. Student 
satisfaction surveys rate many of these services very highly. Staff 
in these areas place a high priority on ensuring students are well 
supported and directed to the right support.

NorthTec is strongly committed to embedding a culture of self-
assessment and reflection across all programmes, activities and 
campuses. Formal and informal processes review and evaluate the 
value and relevance of the programmes to students, community and 
employers, and verify high levels of satisfaction with the outcomes 
achieved.
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“I wanted to study something that there was a high demand for, that I loved, 
where I could earn while I studied, and that had a flexible work location.

“One of the engineering companies I came across offered me a job and 
study support so I signed up with NorthTec for Civil Engineering and opted 
to do my study part time over four years, with the goal to fast track it to 
just three years. I’m now part of a projects team, specialising in roading 
infrastructure construction. I’m loving working outside and I’m enjoying 
learning about the design aspects as well as the construction phases.

“I was nominated to be this year’s Northland Student Rep on the 
Engineering NZ Board, and I’m also on the Women Infrastructure Network 
Northland Committee, encouraging high school students and young woman 
into the infrastructure industries. I want to showcase the industry to girls 

and show them that we can do this and be accepted on construction sites. 
This can be the most daunting aspect but women are now often preferred 
on sites because we are willing to learn, have an eye for detail, follow 
orders, get things right the first time and are compassionate to deal with.

“This study has already changed my life. I realise how much I now know and 
that is reflected in my confidence and my ability to do the work. I’ve gone 
from being a trainee engineer to being a site engineer. My next step is to 
finish my training which will lift me to the next job bracket, then when I have 
enough experience I want to work towards being a Site Manager. Later I’d 
love to be a Department or Project Manager.”

Arden Hermans 
Diploma in Civil Engineering
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PRIORITY 1
Delivering skills for industry

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION STRATEGIC

91% of graduates were 
satisfied with their 
studies at NorthTec

NorthTec produces graduates with relevant capabilities to undertake 
roles in employment and careers within their specific profession or 
industry. At programme level, various strategies are used to maintain 
and enhance relationships with industry and community stakeholders. 
These include involvement in conferences, regular meetings with 
professional bodies, joint research projects, industry experts as guest 
speakers, field trips to broaden perspectives and enhance career 
opportunities, and liaison work to maintain the integrity of clinical 
placements and work placements. 

Graduate outcomes are strong, with good progression to higher-level 
qualifications and relevant employment outcomes across NorthTec. 
The value and relevance of qualifications to stakeholders is achieved 
through strong and purposeful industry and community engagement 
to inform programme planning and industry alignments. Programme 
staff are using innovative ways to engage with local employers and 
communities and provide work-based learning to ensure graduates 
have the right skills and capabilities for their chosen industry or 
profession.

Footnote 
MyQ (Rate My Qualifications) is a satisfaction tool enabling recent graduates of certificate, diploma or degree programmes to provide feedback on aspects of their 
tertiary experience and qualification.
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87%
of employed students agreed they used 

their acquired skills and knowledge 
gained from their qualification

5%
increase from 2018

78% of employed graduates said their 
employment was related to their 

course of study
3%

increase from 2018

1% increase from 2018

84%
of employers overall are very 

satisfied with the knowledge and 
skills of our graduates

3%
increase from 2018
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NorthTec is well connected to industry, community and the region. Te 
Tai Tokerau is a very “local” region and stakeholder engagement has 
historically been based on personal and organisational relationships 
at all levels.   

In 2019 NorthTec made changes to the Senior Leadership Team, the 
organisational structure and realigned accountabilities to provide 
a clear process focus to improve the performance of NorthTec.  A 
newly formed Demand Management Team has a strategic emphasis 
on meeting the current and future demands of all stakeholders in the 
region.  

Highly qualified, industry-experienced teaching staff build strong 
learning relationships with their students to support achievement.  
Programmes and qualifications continue to be evaluated to ensure 
they are future-focused and strongly aligned to produce graduates 
who can transition seamlessly into the workplace and meet the 
standards required by industry. Key external stakeholders indicate 
that NorthTec provides high-quality graduates who are work-ready 
with the relevant skills needed for industry.

Industry Training Organisation (ITO)

 Draft Target Actual 

 2019 2019 2018

ITO EFTS 51.16 255 51.02

Full Cost Recovery

 Draft Target Actual 
 2019 2019 2018

Full Cost Recovery EFTS 140.11 135.5 162.79

Innovative practices are used in delivery to support holistic and 
culturally appropriate student engagement and authentic learning. 
These have proven successful with students, particularly those 
studying in the regions. This innovative delivery builds the key skills 
and capabilities that align with workplace requirements.  

Students have access to a range of real-world opportunities 
which complement their study, including partnering with staff on 
research projects, entering competitions, supporting community 
events, industry projects, internships and work placements.  Staff 
engage students as partners in research projects which provide 
valuable experience to prepare them for the workforce. Community 
based projects are integrated into teaching and learning and this 
is supporting the needs of communities, including painting and 
renovating housing, town beautification and maintenance activities 
in communities of low socio-economic status. 

Students gain a range of professional, technical and work-ready 
skills at the standard required for employment and further study. 
Core skills and capabilities being achieved by students include self-
confidence, time management, and an ability to work in teams with a 
range of complementary skills and abilities such as problem-solving 
and positive attitudes. Students and graduates have been successful 
in winning medals at regional competitions and going forward to 
national competitions, and value the opportunity to showcase their 
technical abilities and work-ready skills.

Students and stakeholders value the quality of teaching at NorthTec 
and attribute their success to the commitment and dedication 
of staff. The positive learning environment, strong relationships 
between staff and students, high level of industry-specific experience 
and willingness to support students in their studies, are key 
contributing factors which engage students and lead to increased 
interest, enjoyment and success. 

Teaching staff are highly experienced and knowledgeable in their 
specialist areas with diverse and extensive links with industry and 
research opportunities.  Students value the positive, responsive and 
industry-aligned learning environment that provides opportunities for 
students to achieve new skills and knowledge. NorthTec has recently 
implemented a range of approaches to gather reliable information 
and obtain formal feedback from stakeholders to inform areas for 
improvement.

NorthTec regularly reviews its programmes and activities to ensure 
that different stakeholder needs are being met. This has provided an 
opportunity for NorthTec to ensure that programmes are industry-
relevant, use flexible delivery strategies, are student centred and use 
appropriate digital technology. 

NorthTec is a member of the Tertiary Accord of New Zealand (TANZ) 
and participates in the delivery of programmes through TANZ 
eCampus. NorthTec maintains local and national relationships 
and affiliations with a number of professional and industry forums 
that result in positive outcomes for students. NZQA consistency 
reviews undertaken in 2019 demonstrate that NorthTec has met 
requirements, assuring national consistency of graduate outcomes.
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4.73/5.00
Chosen programme is 

relevant to the real world

4.68/5.00
NorthTec has up-to-date 
industry resources and 

equipment

4.30/5.00
I have been suitably 
prepared for work  
(I am work ready)

4.62/5.00
Tests and assessments are 
well designed and linked to 

real work

4.32/5.00
NorthTec’s training 
programme developed  
my skills and knowledge in 
relation to my job

85% The students’ knowledge, skills 
and attitudes reflect those I 
expect from a student with a 
qualification in this field.

2019 NorthTec Employer Satisfaction Survey
2019 NorthTec Satisfaction Survey and the 2018/2019 Student Outcome Survey (Sliding Scale 1-5)
NorthTec Graduate Outcome Survey 2018 (Sliding Scale 1-5)
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“I knew I’d like this course but I like it even more than I thought. I kept 
getting into trouble at school so eventually Mum decided to pull me out and 
I moved home to the farm and started studying sports, but it wasn’t me. We 
lived on a farm and I liked it, but I didn’t know anything about it so when I 
saw a brochure on this course I signed up.”

“The best part of the course so far is moving the animals, learning to ride 
the quad bike, fixing fences, milking, and learning about stock rotation and 
how much to feed them. We learn by actually doing it, plus we have one 
theory day a week.”

“We also learn from the other students when we work together, and we’re 
all gaining confidence and experience. I’m not sure what I want to do when I 
finish the course but I might work in dairy farming. I’ve learnt to give things 
a go and at NorthTec they’ll help you get through.”

Chantelle Hobson 
Agriculture
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PRIORITY 2
Getting at-risk young people into a career

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION STRATEGIC
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For most young people, achieving a tertiary qualification is a crucial 
milestone towards a successful working career. Northland presents 
a challenging landscape, with the highest rate of young people not in 
employment, education or training (NEET) rate in New Zealand. Latest 
figures show that close to 20 per cent (3,200) of Northland youth 
between the ages of 15 and 24 were NEET in Northland. For those 
aged between 20 and 24, the proportion was higher at 30 per cent.  

Around half of Northland school leavers are not in tertiary study the 
year after leaving school, and those going into tertiary study are 
more likely to study at low levels. Currently the proportion of young 
people staying in school until at least 17, and the proportion of 
those achieving NCEA Level 2 or equivalent, are 4 per cent lower in 
Northland than national levels.   

As many jobs in Northland are in rural areas with very limited access 
to public transport, driver licensing is critical for people to get to work, 
yet many people do not have a valid licence. Demand for unqualified 
labour (those with no post-school qualifications), especially in the 
primary sector in New Zealand, is forecast to decline. 

Student Participation under 25 
  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
SAC students   2019 2019 2018

Levels 1 - 3   33.12% N/A 31.47%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  41.81% N/A 37.92%

Level 7 (degree)   35.29% N/A 33.25%

Course completions under 25 
  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
SAC students   2019 2019 2018

Overall   76.44% N/A 75.80% 
 

Levels 1 - 3   66.69% N/A 63.70% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  85.08% N/A 83.30%

Level 7 (degree)   91.52% N/A 91.70%

Qualification completions under 25 
  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
SAC students   2019 2019 2018

 
Overall   50.20% N/A 51.70% 

 
Levels 1 - 3   51.70% N/A 50.50% 

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  46.90% N/A 49.00%

Level 7 (degree)   59.30% N/A 78.50%

Youth Guarantee
 Draft Target Actual 
SAC students 2019 2019 2018

Youth Guarantee EFTS 85.72 125 95.60

All students under 25 years SAC students under 25 years

All students 40.3% (Headcount: 2,733)

Successful 
course 

completion 79%  (same as 2018)

Successful 
qualification 

completion 62%  (8% increase  
on 2018)

SAC students 33% (Headcount: 948)

Successful 
course 

completion 76%  (3% increase  
on 2018)

Successful 
qualification 

completion 50%  (6% decrease  
on 2018)

N/A: Not an Investment Plan requirement in 2019
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STAR and Trades Academy (TA)

 Draft Actual 

 2019 2018

STAR and TA EFTS 111.88 116.37

Tai Tokerau STAR and Trades Academy programmes continued 

to support students to study free for a year at several secondary 

schools and NorthTec simultaneously, working towards nationally 

transferable qualifications in areas such as automotive and 

engineering, electronics, horticulture, hospitality and the arts. In 

2019, 715 students participated in STAR and taster courses.

Ngawha Corrections students played an important role in community 

projects. As well as gaining valuable technical skills and capabilities, 

the students felt a strong sense of pride and were able to see the 

value of gaining formal qualification, with 67 per cent of students 

aged under 25 in Ngawha successfully completing courses at Levels 

2 to 4.

The aPlus+ plugin “Revive” is embedded across the institution. 

This provides an early warning of learners who are at risk of not 

successfully completing their current course of study. Revive allows 

us to record and track our efforts to try to retain students at risk 

through quick identification and internal notifications of support 

interventions. This will be further bolstered and supported in 2020 

by our triage and case management pilot work that we started in late 

2019.

Our support services to ākonga (learners) have been transformed and 

embedded across NorthTec to support academic achievement. The 

academic support and library teams have worked in collaboration 

with tutors and other services, resulting in feedback from our ākonga 

praising the exemplary manaaki (compassion and care) they have 

been shown.

Highly skilled staff who are strongly ākonga-centred in their practice 

are providing quality support to learners and tutors to encourage 

class attendance, complete assessments and assignments, address 

social barriers, support our youth, navigate institution systems and 

processes (internal and external), feel well, healthy and safe, and to 

receive timely support that is respectful and accurate.

In 2019, this support team provided 1,732 support sessions, nurses 

provided 2,380 consultations and Vitae provided 84 counselling 

sessions to ākonga throughout Te Tai Tokerau - Kaitaia, Kaikohe, 

Dargaville and Whangārei and Tamaki Makau-rau - Auckland. Female 

ākonga aged between 16 -25 were the highest users in 2019.
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4.74/5.00
NorthTec provides services that 

are relevant to my needs 

4.72/5.00
NorthTec provides services that 
are available when I need them
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“I was very clear that I wanted to go to uni and study psychology but I didn’t 
get uni entrance from school so was looking at the best bridging study to 
get there when I chanced across this course. I was here for Orientation to 
support my partner and when I mentioned what I wanted to do to his tutor, 
she said this health and wellbeing course was perfect.

“I was very nervous and quiet when I started because I come from right 
up north and was the youngest in the class, but my advantage was that 
I was straight out of school so I was used to study and written structure. 
I’m finding my grades are really good so that has helped my confidence, 
and the course helps with communication and making presentations. It’s a 
really open environment here and all the students and tutors are genuinely 
supportive.

“I’m realising since leaving home that my Dad is my inner voice encouraging 
me to be my best self. I’m really surprised here how strong the Māori aspect 

of the course is. I’m Māori but our parents didn’t speak te reo and I had to 
learn where I came from to give my pepeha here.

“I can truly further my education by doing this course. I’m keen to 
upskill and want to absorb as much as possible to better my confidence, 
communication and motivational interviewing. 

“I’m one of the oldest of ten children and all of us know how much need 
there is for education and up-skilling in our region. We as Māori are a small 
percentage of the population but the statistics in prison, mental health, and 
limited education are high. Together we can help with this. As youth, we all 
have capability to lift ourselves but a lot of us don’t realise we can do that 
by studying at NorthTec in a supportive system and staying in the area.”

Artesha Matiu 
Health and Wellbeing
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PRIORITY 3
Boosting achievement of Māori and Pasifika 

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION STRATEGIC
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Participation 

SAC-funded Māori and Pasifika students continued overall to exceed 
participation targets. Participation rates for Māori were significantly 
higher than the 33 per cent Māori population of Northland. For Levels 
1 to 3 Māori participation rates were significantly higher, 22 per cent 
above target at 66.88 per cent. For non-degree students at Level 4 to 7 
participation rates were slightly below the 52 per cent target at 49.16 
per cent. Māori participation in degree programmes continues to exceed 
participation rates, 16 per cent above the target at 46.29 per cent.  
Pasifika participation rates at all levels continued to exceed targets 
between 2.5 to 5 per cent.

SAC students  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited)

Non Māori, Non Pasifika 
Participation  2019 2019 2018

Levels 1 - 3   47.63% 53% 54.23%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  67.73% 45% 68.64%

Level 7 (degree)   72.63% 76% 70.42%
 

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Māori Participation  2019 2019 2018

Levels 1 - 3   66.88% 44% 58.32%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  49.16% 52% 49.92%

Level 7 (degree)   46.29% 30% 47.38%

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Pasifika Participation  2019 2019 2018  

Levels 1 - 3   8.47% 3% 6.91%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  5.69% 3% 5.12%

Level 7 (degree)   7.42% 8% 9.16%

Course completion
All students

In 2019, 76 per cent of Māori successfully completed courses, an 
increase of 4 per cent on 2018. The achievement gap between all 
funded Māori and non Māori successful course completions is 10 per 
cent, with 86 per cent of all funded non Māori successfully completing 
courses. In 2019, 75 per cent of Pasifika successfully completed 
courses, con              sistent with 2018.

SAC students  Draft Target Actual 
     (unaudited) 
Non Māori, Non Pasifika  
Course Completion  2019 2019 2018

Overall   86.98% 80% 79.90%

Levels 1 - 3   82.79% N/A 70.50%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 85.08% N/A 80.70%

Level 7 (degree)   94.84% N/A 94.90%
 

   Draft Target Actual 
     (unaudited) 
Māori Course 
Completion  2019 2019 2018

Overall   75.52% 76% 73.10%

Levels 1 - 3   69.07% N/A 65.80%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree) 78.17% N/A 74.20%

Level 7 (degree)   89.71% N/A 91%

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Pasifika Course Completion  2019 2019 2018

Overall   69.65% 79.00% 75.60%

Levels 1 - 3   62.19% N/A 70.60%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  70.46% N/A 73.00%

Level 7 (degree)   85.44% N/A 86.30%

Māori are a significant part of the Northland economy, accounting for 33 per cent of the population and 26 per cent of the labour force. Students 
on a number of programmes had the opportunity to learn and apply work skills in realistic work environments while providing real benefit to 
communities.

Improving Māori achievement, success and further strengthening relationships with iwi, community and business in the region, at all levels of the 
organisation, remains a priority for NorthTec. Providing social and cultural value to whānau, hapū and iwi within Te Tai Tokerau communities is high 
on the agenda of NorthTec staff and students.

13,070 Māori currently aged 5-14 years will be in the labour force in 10 years’ time. This presents a significant opportunity for Māori and 
reinforces the need for carefully tailored vocational pathways into further/higher study and/or skilled employment.

N/A: Not an Investment Plan requirement in 2019
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In 2019, 75 per cent of SAC funded Māori learners successfully 
completed courses, an increase of 3 per cent on 2018. The 
achievement gap between Māori and non Māori SAC funded learners 
completing courses successfully is 11 per cent.

There are persistent gaps between Māori and non-Māori course 
achievement in a number of programmes, but also instances of this gap 
being closed where targeted strategies and interventions, improvements 
and support have been put in place. This has supported strong trends 
for Māori course qualification completions leading in 2019. 

Qualification completions

All students

In 2019, 56 per cent of Māori successfully completed qualifications, 
an increase of 5 per cent on 2018. The achievement gap between all 
funded Māori and non Māori successfully completing qualifications 
completions is 24 per cent, with 75 per cent of all funded non Māori 

learners successfully completing qualifications.

SAC students 

In 2019, 53 per cent of Māori successfully completed qualifications, 
a decrease of 2 per cent on 2018. The achievement gap between 
SAC funded Māori and non Māori learners successfully completing 
qualifications is 4 per cent, with 58 per cent of non-Māori SAC learners 
successfully completing qualifications. 

In 2019, 70 per cent of Pasifika learners successfully completed 
courses, a decrease of 5 per cent on 2017.

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Non Māori, Non Pasifika   
Qualification Completion  2019 2019 2018

Overall  58.20% N/A 62.50%

Levels 1 - 3   65.00% N/A 63.60%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  46.20% N/A 59.30%

Level 7 (degree)   72.80% N/A 72.30%
 

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Māori Qualification 
Completion  2019 2019 2018

Overall  53.50% N/A 56.00%

Levels 1 - 3   57.50% N/A 58.50%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  43.80% N/A 50.80%

Level 7 (degree)   66.70% N/A 64.70%

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Pasifika Qualification 
Completion  2019 2019 2018

Overall  48.60% N/A 61.10%

Levels 1 - 3   44.80% N/A 62.10%

Levels 4 - 7 (non degree)  51.50% N/A 59.10%

Level 7 (degree)   66.70% N/A 60.00%
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4.76/5.00
Chosen programme is 
relevant to my needs  

and goals

4.66/5.00
Tutors are up to date in 
subject and teaching 

knowledge

4.70/5.00
Tutors are approachable

Survey responses from students who identified as Māori
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4.77/5.00 Chosen programme is  
up-to-date

Retention
  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Non Māori, Non Pasifika 
Retention  

2019 2019 2018

Levels 4 - 7   57.90% 50% 53.10%

Level 7 (degree)   81.00% 74% 78.20%

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Māori Retention  2019 2019 2018

Levels 4 - 7   42.90% 46% 49.20%

Level 7 (degree)   70.90% 72% 77.80%

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Pasifika Retention  2019 2019 2018

Levels 4 - 7   57.10% 40% 23.10%

Level 7 (degree)   66.70% 71% 69.20%

Progression
  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Non Māori, Non Pasifika 
Progression  

2019 2019 2018

Levels 1 - 3   27.90% 39% 30.90%

Levels 4 - 7  28.20% N/A 25.70%

  Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 
Māori Progression  2019 2019 2018

Levels 1 - 3   27.10% 39% 30.40%

Levels 4 - 7  34.70% N/A 26.60%

   Draft Target Actual 
    (unaudited) 

Pasifika Progression  2019 2019 2018

Levels 1 - 3   30.40% 35% 25.30%

Levels 4 - 7   25.00% N/A 37.00%

NorthTec continues to work with Māori in a range of ways to improve engagement, participation and achievement in our programmes. 
The Raumanga whare hui has provided opportunities for whakawhanaungatanga, learning in a culturally appropriate space, and free 
accommodation for regional students. 

Te Puna o Te Mātauranga marae has hosted a range of professional development sessions with whanaungatanga as the focus. It has seen an 
increase in usage for staff hui, key internal and external stakeholder meetings and conferences, which has enhanced NorthTec’s engagement 
with staff, the local community and iwi. Student initiatives, such as study groups for Māori students on the marae and “kai and catch up”, have 
also proved successful.

Hospitality students provided value to staff and students while they learned each week in the marae kitchen, preparing and serving low-cost 
lunches on a commercial cost-recovery basis. This supported the students in learning about nutrition and cooking economical healthy meals 
for themselves and their families. Our regional trade-based students continued to apply their skills to support community projects, like 
repairing and painting churches, local houses and marae.

Survey responses from students who identified as Māori

4.76/5.00 A good place to study
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“I’ve always hunted and been keen on fishing and diving but my work life 
has been in the building/construction industry. When the last venture I was 
with finished, I decided it was time to study what I was passionate about. 
I had walked and swum through our natural environment but I wanted to 
learn some of the science and biology behind how it was all linked together 
so I stepped out of my comfort zone and signed up for study here for a year. 
I became so enthusiastic that I’ve continued to level 6.

“The best thing about the course is the dedication and passion of the 
tutors and how they deliver their knowledge. It’s also really cool meeting 
new people with new opinions and new input. The challenge for me is the 
computer and technology but the support is there from both the tutors and 
younger students, and I can help them with some of my bush experience.

“By monitoring and interpreting data, we’ve learned that everything we do 
in an eco-system has consequences, including which plants we introduce. 

We’re learning a massive amount so it takes a bit to condense it and choose 
which path to follow after study. I’m keen to get work when we finish and 
already a few options with local projects are presenting themselves.

Steve’s long term goal is to work amongst the extensive natural 
environment around Ruakākā and help enhance it. “Stepping out of 
my comfort zone to come back to school has been great for me. In my 
backpack with my ordinary kit of my tools, lunch and safety gear, I also 
carry my goals and aspirations. That way I keep them close to me so I can 
keep reviewing them, renewing them and re-filling them.”

Steve Johnson 
Conservation and Environmental Management
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PRIORITY 4
Improving adult literacy and numeracy 

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION STRATEGIC
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Lifting literacy and numeracy skills of students and staff continues 
to be a priority for NorthTec. The investment over time in the 
development and support of staff to enable them to achieve the 
National Certificate in Adult Literacy and Numeracy (NCALNE) 
qualification has enabled staff to raise their skills and equip 
themselves with strategies to develop the literacy and numeracy 
skills of learners. 

Staff have a clear understanding of how to administer the literacy 
and numeracy diagnostic tool, how to read the results of this tool, 
how to embed appropriate levels of literacy and numeracy skills 
into their schemes of work, and how to align their teaching to the 
relevant levels of the Adult Learning Progressions.

NorthTec learners engaged well with the literacy and numeracy 
diagnostic tool in 2019, with 91 per cent of learners completing 
initial assessments in Numeracy and 99 per cent in Literacy. 
85 per cent of students completed progress assessments in 
Numeracy and 90 per cent in Literacy.  Significant gains made 
by students in numeracy continued to improve with 31 per cent 
of learners making significant gains (an increase of 9 per cent 
on 2018) and 17 per cent making significant gains in literacy (a 
decrease of 5 per cent on 2018).

 
 
 
 
Literacy and numeracy is embedded into all Level 2 programmes, 
and further curriculum development work will ensure that 
embedded practice of literacy and numeracy is “business 
as usual” at Level 3. Individual learning plans are prepared 
with learners that test at Steps 1 and 2 of the Adult Learning 
Progressions, with individual literacy and numeracy goals being 
set by the learners. The learning tool, Pathways Awarua, is used as 
a resource by learners in their self-directed learning time and can 
be used by tutors during timetabled teaching hours.

Adult Literacy and Numeracy Education and Adult Tertiary 
qualifications programmes continue to be a priority for 
professional development for all tutors teaching at Levels 2 and 3 
at NorthTec, to assist with the achievement of a fully embedded 
approach to improving literacy and numeracy for our students. 

Adult Community Education (ACE)
 Draft Target Actual 

 2019 2019 2018

ACE EFTS 35.22   68 61.09

4.32/5.00
Students are satisfied to very 

satisfied with the support 
provided to develop Literacy 

and Numeracy Skills

of students completed 
initial numeracy assessments91% 

2019 NorthTec Satisfaction Survey and the 2018/2019 Student 
Outcome Survey  (Sliding Scale 1-5)

of students completed  
initial literacy assessments99% 

of students making  
significant gains in numeracy31% 

of students making  
significant gains in literacy17% 

of students completed 
progress numeracy assessments85% 
of students completed  
progress literacy assessments90% 
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PRIORITY 5
Strengthening research-based institutions

TERTIARY EDUCATION COMMISSION STRATEGIC
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NorthTec is working hard to strengthen its research capacity. 
Collaborating with industry and community partners continues to be 
a core aim. Vocational research and solving real-world issues are key 
themes in the context of the applied focus of our teaching. In these 
turbulent and uncertain times, research partnerships can provide 
much needed information to inform decision in our region.

The Bachelor of Nursing programme at NorthTec has a strong 
affiliation with nursing clinical and professional nursing bodies. This is 
reflected in the applied research carried out within the department in 
collaboration with these external agencies. A range of outputs reflects 
the range of research projects either completed or in progress on skill 
preparation of new graduate registered nurses, documentation in 
clinical practice, strategies for employment of Māori nurses and work 
challenging nurses around equity for Māori and reducing disparity. The 
collaborative research with Ngā Manukura o Āpōpō on the experiences 
of Māori Nurse Educators and the impact on the recruitment and 
retention of Māori nurses in to Nursing Education in Aotearoa New 
Zealand, is a key example of an increasing focus on equity and 
challenging inherent racism.

The Creative Pathway (Applied Arts, Māori Arts, Creative Writing) 
remains supportive of research capabilities which enhance 
professional practice and develop ideas and contexts, locally, 
nationally and internationally. Collaboration between faculty members 
was a strength as was community and industry partnership. A creative 
technology exhibition during Techweek in May 2019 was created in 
collaboration with local industry and artistic community networks, 
and research into the Hikurangi wetlands resulted in greater inter-
departmental relationships between the science and art departments 
at NorthTec. In the Māori Arts space, a project with the Auckland 
Museum created a database of Kete Muka thereby building capacity 
in this area of Māori research nationally. International connections 
were made via a staff exchange in the Taitung Indigenous Cultural and 
Creative Industries Park in Taiwan, building a platform for indigenous 
art for Austronesian peoples.

A major development for the Business Management programme this 
year was securing external funding for two research projects thanks 
to a collaboration with the Research and Enterprise unit at Unitec. 
The UNESCO funded project focuses on regenerative agriculture and 
its connections with matauranga Māori. The Ministry of Business 
Innovation and Employment project is researching the development 

of soil science units to facilitate climate action. Three programme 
staff are actively involved in these projects and their success will be 
dependent on deep community engagement and utilise NorthTec 
science laboratory staff.

In Applied and Environmental Sciences, strong industry and 
community partnerships once again benefited students through 
practical experience and exposure to real world issues. Making the 
news this year was the work of NorthTec student Kelsie Hackett who 
shot to fame for discovering a larvae of a group of tiny flies in her 
research on macroinvertebrate life in an artificial pond on Matakohe-
Limestone Island. The discovery of a species of Dasyhelea was later 
confirmed by invertebrate experts and published in the entomological 
society journal, The Weta.

The Applied Writing programme generated a range of national 
publications coming from both tutors and students in the form of 
novels, essays, articles, poems, short stories and plays. To maintain 
currency and close affiliations with the quickly changing and evolving 
writing industry, tutors and students were closely involved with 
Northwrite, a Whangārei-based conference which hosted some of 
New Zealand’s leading authors, editors and publishers. In an effort 
to diversify and remain relevant, student online collaborations have 
been initiated with the Fine Arts department. To promote the history 
of Tai Tokerau, the photography tutor and a writing tutor are currently 
involved in researching the Whangārei and Dargaville years of artist 
and photographer Adele Younghusband.

Research activity in Sport and Recreation continues to be 
underpinned by strong industry links working closely with both 
national and regional organisations. Sport and Recreation staff 
research in 2019 saw the completion of a Master’s thesis for one 
staff member, working with Hockey New Zealand, as well as another 
staff member continuing to work towards theirs with the New Zealand 
Police. Adding to the NorthTec Sport and Recreation departments 
already strong relationship with AUT, both pieces of work were carried 
out through AUT under their expert academic guidance. As well as 
these staff-driven projects, which produced outputs in the form of 
presentations in 2019 and continue to produce further outputs into 
2020, the sport and recreation students continue to benefit from their 
exposure to quality research throughout their education. In 2019, both 
2nd and 3rd year NorthTec and AUT sport and recreation students 
also completed a range of work-integrated action-learning research 
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projects within the local community. Organisations involved include 
Sport Northland, Northland Rugby, Northland Rugby League, NorthTec 
International, New Zealand Police, Hulk Strength Barbell, Whangārei 
Netball Centre, Whangārei Girls High School, Kamo High School and Te 
Hauora o Ngapuhi. Projects ranged from ‘Brain Breaks’ with primary 
school children and Work Place Wellness Initiatives through to a ‘Lunch 
Hub’ for secondary school students and a Good Sports initiative with 
Netball.

NorthTec results in the PBRF were disappointing. In context however, 
PBRF is an exhausting resource heavy process which many smaller 
providers do not even attempt. It is heavily weighted in favour of 
institutions with post graduate research based degrees. Despite some 
excellent work by some staff, with environment team being the standout 
performer, we lost ground overall. In part this reflects a loss of research-
active staff during prolonged restructuring. There was also some loss of 
research focus in what was, for many programmes, a very challenging 
year. This must be changed going forward and a number of initiatives are 
in place to change our research structure and ensure that links between 
our local community, industry partners and staff are even stronger. A 
clearer emphasis on community outcomes will be developed in future 
along with streamlined processes for research and ethics approval.

Conferences that have been planned for 2020 are now deferred until 
later in 2020 or next year. That said, they are indicators of the strong 
networks built by various departments and represent pathways to 
building research networks across the Pacific and internationally. 
Conferences include the Australasia Pacific Community International 
Development Conference hosted by the community and social services 
teams, with the national and international professional bodies for 
community development. Another prestigious conference to be hosted 
by NorthTec is the national Māori Education Conference, Te Toi Tauira 
Mo Te Matariki. These conferences represent strong affiliations with both 
international networks and local community and industry groups.

Performance-Based Research Fund (PBRF)

 2019 2019 2018 
 Actual Budget Actual 
 $000 $000 $000 

Revenue 46 106 108 
Expenses 58 38 25

 
Net Surplus/(deficit) (12) 68 83 

 

Dr Manue Martinez, NorthTec Environmental Management Tutor, 
co-created the Te Tai Tokerau Debris Monitoring Project (TTTDMP) 
alongside NorthTec graduate and Environmental Monitoring Officer 
at Northland Regional Council, Nick Bamford. The TTTDMP uses 
an app to track the extent of litter in Northland by conducting 
surveys to compile baseline data. TTTDMP aims at addressing the 
knowledge gap by collecting quantitative data on the presence, 
abundance, composition, and spatial distribution of litter at specific 
sites within the region. They hope to encourage citizen-scientists 
to participate and collect data while promoting environmental 
awareness, and increase our understanding of litter to better 
prevent and mitigate its adverse effects on our ecosystems, wildlife, 
and human health.

Manue says she is grateful she is able to get the opportunity 
to pursue her own research at NorthTec. “Research empowers 
people to do something. We can help bring awareness to this issue 
to change people’s behaviour, to be more careful about how we 
dispose of plastics and other rubbish. The more people that know 
about the plastic issue, the more people that will care and do 
something about it. The more data we have, the more accurate the 
results will be that we can then pass on to the Whangārei District 
Council, the Northland Regional Council, and to the New Zealand 
Government.”

What inspires Manue’s research is her passion to make a difference. 
“I believe that no matter how small you think your actions are, every 
step we take can make a difference and inspire others to do the 
same, which is amazing. By researching and collecting data, we are 
able to prove what is going on to hopefully empower people to be 
more aware of the consequences of their actions and change their 
attitude, which ultimately also makes a difference for our wildlife.”

Dr Manue Martinez 
Environmental Management Tutor
BSc (Hons.), MSc, D.Phil
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“I came to New Zealand four years ago from China to study the Bachelor 
of Sport and Recreation through a sister-city link between the university in 
China and NorthTec. I was a golf club manager and a track and field athlete 
in China so I was keen to become more professional in my career, and to 
broaden my knowledge. The first year was hard because of the different 
culture and the specialist sport and recreation language, but I have learnt 
and adapted now.

“I love that we have a lot of practicum in this programme and we get the 
opportunity to actually do what we learn out there in the community. It’s 
good for us as students, and good for the community so it’s a win-win. For 
my co-ordination paper I’m working at NorthTec International Department 
to encourage Chinese students to be more active.

“I’ve learned that I’m more adaptable than I expected. In New Zealand a lot 
of Chinese stay within their own group but I’m keen to find kiwi friends and 
tutors, and that has really helped my English and given me more choices 
both for my career and personally.

“There is a lot more community work in New Zealand than in China and I 
like that, so when I finish my degree I’ll choose an area to start my career. 
At the moment I’m keen to become a co-ordinator with Sports Northland, or 
in a gym, or in the police.”

Yuan Chen 
Sport and Recreation
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PRIORITY 6
Growing international linkages
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International student achievement remained very strong in 2019. 

Our international students recognise the value of studying at 

NorthTec.

In 2019, NorthTec campuses provided efficient and effective 

education and support to our international students (547 EFTS, 

865 Headcount versus a target of 650 EFTS). The consolidation 

and ongoing development of the Auckland International campus 

on Queen Street continued throughout 2019 with implementation 

of a new management structure. 

Changes to immigration rules had a negative impact on enrolment 

numbers towards the end of 2019. Our China partnership 

relationships continue to focus on vocational education in order 

to provide a pathway for Chinese students who are enrolled in 

our partnership schools to come to study at NorthTec for a higher 

qualifications. The long-term partnership relationships establish 

pipelines of international students that result in generating 

sustainable revenue for NorthTec as well as social, cultural and 

economic benefits for local communities.

Our established 20 partnership institutions are situated in 

Guangdong Province, Zhejiang Province, Jiangsu Province and 

Hainan Province in China. Our work with these institutions 

focuses on tertiary institutions who offer certificate and 

diploma level programmes. NorthTec’s Pearson Test of English 

(PTE) continues to do well since it began in 2016. In 2019, the 

numbers increased by over 200 from 2018 to 4,635 despite 

the introduction of a similar testing centre at the University of 

Auckland. PTE Academics is the world’s leading computer-based 

test of English.

NorthTec continues to use appropriate practices to support the 

success of international students and to manage growth in this 

area. The monitoring of the Code of Practice is well managed.

Successful 
course 

completion 86.6% 
(7% 
decrease  
on 2018)

Successful 
qualification 

completion 82% 
(2%  
increase  
on 2018)

Headcount 3.6% 

International Students

0.9 %  547 EFTS (2019)
552 EFTS (2018)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the readers of Northland Polytechnic’s  
financial statements and statement of service performance  

for the year ended 31 December 2019

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Northland Polytechnic (the Polytechnic). The Auditor-General has appointed me, Carl Wessels, 
using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and statement of service 
performance of the Polytechnic on his behalf.

Opinion

We have audited:

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic on pages 50 to 83, that comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2019, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory 
information; and

• the statement of service performance of the Polytechnics on pages 19 to 43.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic on pages 50 to 83, which have been prepared on a disestablishment basis:

   present fairly, in all material respects:

  °  its financial position as at 31 December 2019; and

  °  its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

   comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Reporting  
      Standards; and

• the statement of service performance of the Polytechnic on pages 19 to 43:

   presents fairly, in all material respects, the Polytechnic’s service performance achievements as compared with the forecast 
  outcomes included in the investment plan for the year ended 31 December 2019; and

   complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on30 April 2020. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we draw your attention to the financial statements being appropriately prepared 
on a disestablishment basis and the possible effects of COVID-19. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Council and our 
responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the statement of service performance, we comment on other information, 
and we explain our independence.

The financial statements have been appropriately prepared on a disestablishment basis

Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the accounting policy note 1 on page 55 and the disclosure note 18 on 
page 79, about the financial statements being prepared on a disestablishment basis. We consider the disestablishment basis to be 
appropriate because the Polytechnic will cease as an entity and transfer its assets and liabilities to New Zealand Institute of Skills 
and Technology on 1 April 2020 as a result of the reform of the institutes of technology and polytechnics sector.
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COVID-19

Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the disclosures in note 18 on page 79 which outline the possible effects to 
Polytechnic as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. It is difficult to determine the full effect of it on the Polytechnic at this time.

Basis for our opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Professional and Ethical 
Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Council for the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance

The Council is responsible on behalf of the Polytechnic for preparing financial statements that are fairly presented and that comply 
with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

The Council is also responsible on behalf of the Polytechnic for preparing a statement of service performance that is fairly presented 
and that complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

The Council is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial statements and a 
statement of service performance that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements and the statement of service performance, the Council is responsible on behalf of the 
Polytechnic for assessing the Polytechnic’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The Council’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Education Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the statement of 
service performance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the statement of service performance, 
as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions 
of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis of these financial statements 
and statement of service performance.

For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the statement of service performance, our procedures were 
limited to checking that the information agreed to the Polytechnic’s investment plan. 

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Polytechnic’s internal control.
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• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Council.

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the non-going concern basis of accounting by the Council. 

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and the statement of service performance 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on pages 1 to 18, 
44 to 45 and 84 to 97, but does not include the financial statements and the statement of service performance, and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements and the statement of service performance does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the statement of service performance, our responsibility is to read the 
other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
and the statement of service performance or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence

We are independent of the Polytechnic in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics 
for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Polytechnic.

Carl Wessels

Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Auckland, New Zealand  
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In terms of the Education Act 1989 and 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, Council and 
Management certify that: 

1
2
3

We have been responsible for the preparation of these financial statements  
and the statements of service performance for Northland Polytechnic and the  
judgements used therein. 

We are of the opinion that these financial statements and the statements of service  
performance fairly reflect the financial position of Northland Polytechnic as  
at 31 December 2019 and the results of the operations for the year ended  
31 December 2019.

We have been responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial  and 
non-financial information. 

RESPONSIBILITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

STATEMENT OF

Jane Hindle Wayne Jackson

Council Chairperson Chief Executive (Acting)

30 April 2020 30 April 2020
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Actual Budget Actual

2019 2019 2018

$000 $000 $000

Revenue                                                               Note

Government grants 2 19,182 21,274 20,700

Tuition fees 2  15,002  15,672  14,031

Other revenue 2  2,098  1,889  2,239

Total revenue  36,282  38,835  36,970

Expenses

Personnel costs 3  24,168  24,696  24,652 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 9,10  2,813  2,820  2,993 

Other expenses 4  14,127  15,678  13,093 

Total expenses  41,108  43,194  40,738 

Surplus/(deficit) (4,826) (4,359) (3,768)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense

Transfer to reserves 15 - -  - 

Property revaluations 15 10,153 - -

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense 10,153 - -

Total comprehensive revenue and expense 5,327 (4,359) (3,768)

Explanations of major variations against budget are provided in note 21.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS AND NOTES
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Actual Budget Actual

2019 2019 2018

$000 $000 $000

Assets                                                                                        Note

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  3,168  2,439  3,684 

Receivables 6  2,739  1,750  3,161 

Other financial assets 7  9,596  6,600  10,000 

Inventories 8  15  30  18 

Non-current assets held for sale 9  423  -  - 

Prepayments  455  350  212 

Total current assets  16,396  11,169  17,075 

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 7  -  -  - 

Property, plant and equipment 9 46,325 37,734 39,148 

Intangible assets 10 267 133 415 

Investment in other entities 11  1,151  1,096  1,209 

Total non-current assets  47,743  38,963  40,772 

Total assets  64,138  50,132  57,847 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Payables 12  4,549  1,950  2,964 

Deferred revenue 13  5,547  4,500  6,026 

Employee entitlements 14  1,564  1,750  1,706 

Provisions 16  1,109  1,100  1,109 

Total current liabilities  12,769  9,300  11,805 

Non-current liabilities

Employee entitlements 14  14  -  15 

Total non-current liabilities  14  -  15 

Total liabilities  12,783  9,300  11,819 

Net assets  51,356  40,832  46,028 

Equity

General funds 15  19,678  19,084  24,281 

Property revaluation reserves 15  31,597  21,666  21,666 

Restricted reserves 15  81  82  81 

Total equity  51,356  40,832  46,028 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019
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Actual Budget Actual
2019 2019 2018

Note $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 January                                46,028  45,191  49,796 

Transfer to reserves - -  - 

Total comprehensive revenue and expense 5,327 (4,359) (3,768)

Balance at 31 December 15  51,356  40,832  46,028 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2019

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2019
Actual Budget Actual

2019 2019 2018
$000 $000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities                                                

Receipts from government grants 20,142 20,475 20,338 

Receipts from tuition fees 14,594 15,672 14,789 

Interest revenue received 410 189 517 

Dividends received 21 - - 

Receipts from other revenue 2,020 1,450 1,981 

Payments to employees (24,308) (24,447) (25,054)

Payments to suppliers (12,648) (15,549) (12,959)

Goods and services tax (net) (32) - (179)

Net cash flow from operating activities 198 (2,211) (566)

Cash flows from investing activities

Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment (1) - 7 

Application of student hardship funds 1 - 2 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,155) (1,200) (602)

Purchase of intangible assets (5) - (211)

Acquisition of shares 40 - (374)

Purchase of investments (17,670) - (19,163)

Receipts from sale/maturity of investments 18,074 3,400 18,425 

Net cash flow from investing activities (716) 2,200 (1,916)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (517) (11) (2,482)

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the year 3,684 2,449 6,166 

Cash & cash equivalents at end of the year 3,168 2,438 3,684 

Explanations of major variations against budget are provided in note 21. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued) 
Reconciliation of net surplus (deficit) to the net cash flow from operating activities

  

Actual Budget Actual
2019 2019 2018
$000 $000 $000

 Surplus/(deficit) (4,826) (4,359) (3,768)

Add/(less) non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,813 2,820 2,993 

(Gains)/losses on shares acquisition - - (79)

Increase/(decrease) in non-current employee entitlements (1) (15) 1 

Total non-cash items 2,812 2,805 2,915 

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities

(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,063 569 (7)

Prior year reclassification of work in progress - - - 

Student hardship funds - - - 

Total items classified as investing or financing activities 1,063 569  (7)

Add/(less) movements in working capital items

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 424 1,411 60 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 3 (12) 10 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (243) (138) 140 

Increase/(decrease) in payables 1,586 (995) (553)

Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue (479) (1,526) 1,039 

Increase/(decrease) in current employee entitlements (142) 44 233 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions - (9) (635)

Net movement in working capital items 1,149 (1,225) 294 

Net cash flow from operating activities 198 (2,211) (566)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

REPORTING ENTITY

Northland Polytechnic, trading as NorthTec, is a TEI that is 
domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The relevant legislation 
governing NorthTec’s operations includes the Crown Entities Act 
2004 and the Education Act 1989.

NorthTec provides educational and research services for the 
benefit of the community. It does not operate to make a financial 
return.

NorthTec has designated itself a public benefit entity (PBE) for 
financial reporting purposes and for the purposes of complying 
with generally accepted accounting practice (GAAP).

The financial statements of NorthTec are for the year ended 31 
December 2019. The financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the Council on 30 April 2020.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Minister of Education announced the Government’s 
decisions on the Reform of Vocational Education proposals on 1 
August 2019, and has since enacted the Education (Vocational 
Education and Training and Reform) Amendment Act (the Act) 
on 24 February 2020 to give effect to those reforms. 

In essence, the Act reforms the delivery of vocational education 
in New Zealand by creating a new Crown entity, the New Zealand 
Institute of Skills and Technology (NZIST) and converting all 
existing institutes of technology and polytechnics (ITPs) into 
crown entity companies, which will take over the operational 
activities of existing ITPs. 

The Act disestablishes Northland Polytechnic and transfers 
its assets and liabilities to a new company, Northland 
Polytechnic Ltd (still trading as NorthTec) on 1 April 2020. As 
a result, NorthTec has prepared its financial statements on a 
disestablishment basis. 

However, because vocational education will continue to be 
provided through NorthTec, no change needs to be made to the 
measurement or classification of assets and liabilities. Decisions 
about the future of these assets and liabilities will be the 
responsibility of the new entity.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

PBE IPSAS 34-38 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
replaced the existing standards for interests in other entities 
(PBE IPSAS 6-8). The new standards are effective for annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Institute has 
applied these new standards in preparing the 31 December 
2019 financial statements. There are no material changes from 
applying these new standards due to the Investment in TANZ 
eCampus Ltd being treated on an equity accounting basis.

PBE IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces PBE IPSAS 29 
Financial Instruments. In accordance with the transitional 
provisions of PBE IFRS 9, NorthTec has elected not to restate 
the information for previous years to comply with PBE IFRS 
9.  Adjustments arising from the adoption of PBE IFRS 9 are 
recognised in opening equity at 1 January 2019. 

Accounting policies have been updated to comply with PBE IFRS 
9.  The main updates are:

•  Note 6 Receivables: This policy has been updated to 
reflect that the impairment of short-term receivables 
is now determined by applying an expected credit loss 
model.      

• Note 7 Investments:     
Term Deposits:  This policy has been 
updated to explain that a loss allowance for 
expected credit losses is recognised only if 
the estimated loss allowance is not trivial.                                                                                                                                         
Share Investments: This policy has been updated to 
remove references to impairment losses, as NZ IFRS 
9 no longer requires identification of impairment for 
equity investments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive revenue and expense.  Also, on disposal, 
the accumulated gains/losses are no longer transferred to 
surplus/(deficit) but are transferred to general funds.                                                                                                                    
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On the date of initial application of PBE IFRS 9, being 1 January 2019, the classification of financial instruments under PBE IPSAS 
29 and PBE IFRS 9 is as follows:

1.  STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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Measurement Category Carrying amount

Original PBE 
IPSAS 29 
category

New PBE IFRS 9 
category

Closing 
balance 31 
December 
2018 (PBE 
IPSAS 29)

Adoption of 
PBE IFRS 9 
Adjustment

Opening 
balance 1 
January 2019 
PBE IFRS 9

$000 $000 $000

Cash at bank and on hand Loans & receivables Amortised Cost 75 0 75

Call Deposits Loans & receivables Amortised Cost 3,609 0 3,609

Term Deposits Loans & receivables Amortised Cost 10,000 0 10,000

Receivables Loans & receivables Amortised Cost 3,508 0 3,508

Shares FVTOCRE FVTOCRE - Designated 1,209 0 1,209

Total financial assets 18,401 - 18,401

Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of NorthTec have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities 
Act 2004 and the Education Act 1989, which include the 
requirement to comply with New Zealand generally accepted 
accounting practice (NZ GAAP).

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with Tier 1 PBE accounting standards. 

These financial statements comply with PBE accounting 
standards.

Presentation currency and rounding 
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values, other than the related party transaction 
disclosures in Note 17, are rounded to the nearest thousand 
($000).  Related party transaction disclosures are rounded to 
the nearest dollar.

Standards issued and not yet effective and not 
early adopted 
An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows 
requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. This amendment is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with 
early application permitted. The Institute does not intend to 
early adopt the amendment.

PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting 
requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The Institute has not early 
adopted PBE FRS 48 for the 31 December 2019 year end. The 
Institute has not yet determined how application of PBE FRS 48 
will affect its statement of service performance.

FVTOCRE = Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses 
FVTSD = Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit 

The measurement categories and carrying amounts for financial liabilities have not changed between the closing 31 December 
2018 and opening 1 January 2019 dates as a result of the transition to PBE IFRS 9.

Service performance reporting has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practice (GAAP) from 31 December 2019 year-end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to 
which they relate.

Significant accounting policies that do not relate to a specific 
note are outlined below.

Leases 
Finance leases 
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred.

At the start of the lease term, finance leases are recognised as 
assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased item and the present value 
of the minimum lease payments.

The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its 
useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether NorthTec will 
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Cost Allocation

Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to a significant 
activity. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified 
in an economically feasible manner with a specific significant 
activity. Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities. 
There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology 
since the date of the last audited financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which 
forward foreign exchange contracts are held) are translated into 
New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) using the spot 
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Goods and services tax  
All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, 
except for receivables and payables, which are presented on a 
GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, it 
is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD 
is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of 
financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST 
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as a net 
operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

Income tax 
NorthTec is exempt from income tax. Accordingly, no provision 
has been made for income tax.

Budget figures 
The budget figures are those approved by the Council at 
the start of the financial year. The budget figures have been 
prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting 
policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Council in 
preparing these financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and 
assumptions have been made concerning the future. These 
estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent 
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations or future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are:

• Estimating the fair value of land, buildings and 
infrastructure – refer to Note 9.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
Management has exercised the following critical judgements in 
applying accounting policies for the year ended 31 December 
2019:
• Distinction between revenue and capital contributions – refer 

to Note 2
• Crown-owned land and buildings – refer to Note 9.

1.  STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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2. REVENUE

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Revenue is measured at fair value.

The specific accounting policies for significant revenue items are explained below.

Student Achievement Component (SAC) funding

SAC funding is NorthTec’s main source of operational funding from the Tertiary Education Commission (TEC). NorthTec 
considers SAC funding to be non-exchange and recognises SAC funding as revenue when the course withdrawal date has 
passed, based on the number of eligible students enrolled in the course at that date and the value of the course.

Student tuition fees

Domestic student tuition fees are subsidised by government funding and are considered non-exchange. Revenue is 
recognised when the course withdrawal date has passed, which is when a student is no longer entitled to a refund for 
withdrawing from the course.

International student tuition fees are accounted for as exchange transactions and recognised as revenue on a course 
percentage of completion basis. The percentage of completion is measured by reference to the days of the course completed 
as a proportion of the total course days.

Fees-Free

NorthTec considers fees-free revenue is non-exchange revenue and recognises revenue when the course withdrawal date 
for an eligible student has passed.  NorthTec has presented funding received for fees-free as part of student fees. This is on 
the basis that receipts from TEC are for payment on behalf of the student as specified in the relevant funding mechanism. In 
2019 the value of Fees-Free income received by NorthTec was $1.5m (2018: $1.1m).

Performance-Based Research Fund (PBRF)

NorthTec considers PBRF funding to be non-exchange in nature. PBRF funding is specifically identified by the TEC as being 
for a funding period as required by section 159YA of the Education Act 1989. NorthTec recognises its confirmed allocation 
of PBRF funding at the commencement of the specified funding period, which is the same as NorthTec’s financial year. PBRF 
revenue is measured based on NorthTec’s funding entitlement adjusted for any expected adjustments as part of the final 
wash-up process. Indicative funding for future periods is not recognised until confirmed for that future period.

Other grants received

Other grants are recognised as revenue when they become receivable unless there is an obligation in substance to return the 
funds if conditions of the grant are not met. If there is such an obligation, the grants are initially recorded as grants received 
in advance when received and recognised as revenue when the conditions of the grant are satisfied.

Donations, bequests and pledges

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when the right to receive the fund or asset has been established, unless 
there is an obligation in substance to return the funds if conditions of the donation or bequest are not met. If there is such an 
obligation, they are initially recorded as revenue in advance when received and recognised as revenue when the conditions 
are satisfied. Pledges are not recognised as assets or revenue until the pledged item is received.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the product is sold to the customer.

Interest and dividends

Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time proportion basis the interest due for the investment.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment has been established.

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue is recognised is recognised as the service is delivered.
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2. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

2019 2018
$000 $000

i) Breakdown of Government Grants
Tertiary Education Commission

Student Achievement Component (SAC) Funding  17,688  18,499 

Performance-Based Research Funding  46  109 

Adult Community Education (ACE)  157  271 

Total Tertiary Education Commission (TEC)  17,891  18,879 

Other

Other grants  202  254 

Quest Rapuara (STAR)  530  605 

Industry Training Organisations (ITO)  559  963 

Total Other  1,291  1,821 

Total government grants  19,182  20,700 

ii) Breakdown of Tuition Fees

Fees from domestic students  4,453  4,500 

TEC Fees Free for domestic students  1,469  1,142 

Fees from international students  9,080  8,389 

Total tuition fees  15,002  14,031 

iii) Breakdown of Other Revenue

Compulsory Student Services Fee  214  164 

Café revenue  290  345 

Interest  410  517 

Dividends  21  - 

Rent received  461  474 

Other revenue  762  661 

Share of Associates (58)  79 

Total other revenue  2,098  2,239 

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Distinction between revenue and capital contributions

Most Crown funding received is operational in nature and is provided by the Crown under the authority of an expense 
appropriation and is recognised as revenue. Where funding is received from the Crown under the authority of a capital 
appropriation, NorthTec accounts for the funding as a capital contribution directly in equity.

Research revenue

NorthTec exercises its judgement in determining whether funding received under a research contract is an exchange or non-
exchange transaction. In making its judgement, NorthTec considers factors such as:

• Whether the funder has substantive rights to the research output. This is a persuasive indicator of exchange or  
non-exchange.

• How the research funds were obtained - for example, whether through a commercial tender process for specified  
work or from applying to a general research funding pool.

• Nature of the funder.
• Specificity of the research brief or contract.

Judgement is often required in determining the timing of revenue recognition for contracts that span a balance date and for 
multi-year research contracts.
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Breakdown of personnel costs and further information
2019 2018

$000 $000

Academic salaries  12,898  13,140 

General salaries and wages  10,498  10,648 

Redundancies  190  311 

Employer contributions to defined contribution scheme  581  553 

Total personnel costs  24,168  24,652 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, NorthTec made 12 (2018: 50) cessation payments to employees totalling $227,746 (2018: $969,824).

3. PERSONNEL COSTS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund, and other defined contribution superannuation 
schemes are accounted for as defined contribution schemes and are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit when 
incurred.

Council member remuneration 

Councillor remuneration paid or payable during the year was:

2019 2018
$000 $000

Jane Hindle Chairperson  30  18 

Kenneth Eastwood Appointed June 2017  15  14 

Bronwyn Yates  14  14 

Karleen Everitt Resigned April 2019  4  14 

Eru Lyndon  14  14 

Kate Cherrington Deputy Chairperson  14  14 

Murry Bain Appointed May 2018  14  10 

Wayne Jackson Former Council Chair, term expired January 2019  -  29 
Total Councillors' remuneration  106  133 

No Councillors received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2018 $nil)
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Operating leases as lessor 
NorthTec sub-leases a portion of the Raumanga Campus property to Te Wānanga o Aotearoa under an operating lease arrangement. 
The initial lease had a term of 3 years with 3 rights of renewal each for 3 years. The sub-lease is currently in its 2nd right of renewal.  
Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga sub-leases a portion of the Kerikeri campus. The lease commenced 20 August 2018, the 
lease has a term of 2 years with 1 right of renewal after the initial 2 years. The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be 
collected under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2019 2018
$000 $000

Not later than one year  146  144 

Later than one year but not later than five years  343  433 

Later than five years  -  - 

Total non-cancellable operating leases  489  577 
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4. OTHER EXPENSES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Scholarships

Scholarships awarded by NorthTec that reduce the amount of tuition fees payable by the student are accounted for as an 
expense and not offset against student tuition fees revenue.

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and further information
2019 2018
$000 $000

Fees to auditor

   Fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements  132  118 

   Provision for fees and disbursements to Audit New Zealand including prior year  -  9 

   Fees to other audit firms for other services  -  - 

Operating lease payments  1,728  1,620 

Repairs and maintenance  713  590 

Other occupancy costs  596  589 

Information technology  975  814 

Advertising and public relations  529  609 

Insurance premiums  201  181 

Consultants and legal fees  360  794 

Office costs  1,254  1,193 

Travel and accommodation  313  357 

Other course-related costs  5,458  5,295 

Impairment of receivables  114  184 

Council remuneration  106  132 

Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment 1,065 (7)

PD/training  186  217 

Other operating expenses  397  398 

Total other expenses  14,127  13,093 
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4. OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

Operating leases as lessee and sublessee

NorthTec leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of business. The most significant leases have varying non-
cancellable terms of at least 36 months and up to 10 years. 

The long term lease on the Futures Trades Centre building is $641,063 per year with 3 years 7 months left on the current renewal 
period. Renewal options are available with 2 periods of 5 years each. The remaining renewal dates are 1 August in years 2023 and 
2028. Rent is to be reviewed to market in 2028, and on the basis of the movement of the annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) over 
the previous 5 years plus 1% per annum in 2023. NorthTec is planning to implement the 2023 option when it becomes available 
due to the projected growth in trade programme delivery and cost of relocating the infrastructure within the next renewal period.   
The value of the 2023 option for Dyer St is valued in the commitments as $3,259,805 (later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 
$923,611; later than 5 years $2,336,194).

NorthTec leases residential apartments located at Central Avenue in Whangārei to provide international student accommodation.  
The initial lease term is for 10 years with rent review and one right of renewal at 10 years.  

The future aggregate minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2019 2018

 Lease $000 $000

Not later than one year  1,462  1,310 

Later than one year but not later than five years  4,270  4,312

Later than five years  2,992  3,911 

Total non-cancellable operating leases  8,724  9,533 

 
Prior year has been restated for comparability with the CPI and lease assumptions used for the current financial year. The net movement from 

this restatement is a reduction of $28k on total non-cancellable operating leases which is immaterial and therefore the 2018 audited financial 

statements remain unchanged.

Contingent Rent 
NorthTec has a month by month lease contract with Fuji Xerox New Zealand Limited for its printing devices. The pricing structure is based on set 

contract rates for devices charged on monthly print volumes as per the May 2018 expired contract.

 Sublease

Not later than one year  -  65 

Later than one year but not later than five years  -  - 

Later than five years  -  - 

Total non-cancellable operating sublease  -  65 
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.  While cash and cash 
equivalents at 31 December 2019 are subject to the expected credit loss requirements of PBE IFRS 9, no loss allowance has 
been recognised because the estimated loss allowance for credit losses is trivial.

Breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and further information
2019 2018
$000 $000

Cash at bank and on hand 14  75 

Call deposits  3,154  3,609 

Term deposits with maturities less than three months at acquisition  -  - 

Total cash and cash equivalents  3,168  3,684 

The carrying value of cash at bank, call deposits, and term deposits with maturities less than three months approximates their fair value.

Breakdown of receivables and further information
2019 2018

$000 $000

Student fee receivables

Student fee receivables 2,662  2,671 

Less: provision for impairment (107) (44)

Net student fee receivables  2,555  2,627 

Other receivables

Trade Receivables 185  837 

Less: Provision for impairment (1) (303)

Net other receivables  184  534 

Total receivables  2,739  3,161 

6. RECEIVABLES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less an allowance for credit losses.  NorthTec applies 
the simplified expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for receivables.                                                                                                                                     
In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess shared 
credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due.  

Short-term receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.                                                                                                                                      

Previous accounting policy for impairment of receivables                                                                                              

Due to the large number of student fee receivables, the impairment assessment is performed on a collective basis, based on 
an analysis of past collection history and debt write-off. All receivables greater than 30 days in age are considered past due.       
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6. RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Assessment for uncollectability

For Student Receivables, allowance for credit losses are expected only for Domestic Students. International Students and TEC Fees Free 
receivables have no allowance for credit loss on the basis that the monies are received in advance for these receivables and therefore the 
risk of credit losses is considered minimal. The allowance for credit losses at 31 December and 1 January 2019 was determined as follows:

31 December 2019 Current 1 to 30 
days

31 to 
60 days

61 to 
90 days

90 to 
120 

days

More 
than 120 

days
Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expected credit loss rate (on Domestic 
Students only) 0% 0% 0% 0% 20% 70%

Gross carrying amount ($000) 
International Students and TEC Fees Free 359 (1) (6) 9 (10) 58 409

Gross carrying amount ($000) Domestic 
Students 2,011 30 37 11 6 158 2,253 

Lifetime expected credit loss ($000) 
(Domestic Students) - - - - 1 106 107 
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For Trade Receivables, the allowance for credit losses at 31 December and 1 January 2019 was determined as follows:

31 December 2019 Current 1 to 30 
days

31 to 60 
days

61 to 
90 days

90 to 
120 

days

More 
than 120 

days
Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expected credit loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% ^ 50%
Gross carrying amount ($000) (0) 181 0 0 2 2 185 
Lifetime expected credit loss ($000) - - - - - 1 1 

1 January 2019 Current 1 to 30 
days

31 to 60 
days

61 to 
90 days

90 to 
120 

days

More 
than 120 

days
Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expected credit loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% ^ 50%

Gross carrying amount ($000) - 284 195 9 33 316 837 

Lifetime expected credit loss ($000) - - - - - 303 303 

^ Specifically, credit loss rates for Trade Receivables are: 
50% for Current Year Debt over 120 Days 
100% for any Prior Year Debt

The allowance for credit losses at 1 January 2019 included 100% credit loss rate for receivables dating back to 2015-2017 ($7,973) and a 
2018 receivable for $285,540. These receivables were written off during the 2019 financial year.

1 January 2019 Current 1 to 30 
days

31 to 
60 days

61 to 
90 days

90 to 
120 

days

More 
than 120 

days
Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Expected credit loss rate (on Domestic 
Students only) 0% 0% 0% 0% 20% 70%

Gross carrying amount ($000) 
International Students and TEC Fees Free (159) 170 0 1 37 - 49

Gross carrying amount ($000) Domestic 
Students 2,022 306 33 8 253 - 2,622 

Lifetime expected credit loss ($000) 
(Domestic Students) - - - - 44 - 44 
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7. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs unless they are carried at fair value through surplus or 
deficit in which case the transaction costs are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which NorthTec commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and NorthTec has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Term deposits
Term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested.  Where applicable, interest is subsequently accrued and added to 
the investment balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not trivial. 
NorthTec considers there has not been a significant increase in credit risk for investments in term deposits because the issuer of 
the investment continues to have a low credit risk at balance date. Term deposits are held with banks that have a long-term AA-
investment external grade credit rating and the New Zealand Government has a credit rating of AA+, which indicates that these 
entities have a very strong capacity to meet their financial commitments.

Impairment
For the prior year, an allowance for credit losses for instruments exposed to credit risk was recognised when there was objective 
evidence of impairment. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost was considered 
objective evidence of impairment. If impairment evidence existed, the cumulative loss recognised in other comprehensive 
revenue and expense was transferred from equity to the surplus or deficit.
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The expected credit loss rates for receivables at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2019 are based on the payment profile of revenue 
on credit over 2 years at the measurement date and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced for that period. The historical 
loss rates are adjusted for current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors that might affect the recoverability of receivables. Given 
the short period of credit risk exposure, the impact of macroeconomic factors is not considered significant. There have been no changes 
during the reporting in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions used in measuring the loss allowance.

NorthTec holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are either past due or impaired.

Breakdown of other financial assets and further information
2019 2018

$000 $000
Current portion
Term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months and remaining duration less than 12 months 9,596  10,000 

Total current portion 9,596  10,000 

Non-current portion

Term deposits maturities with remaining duration greater than 12 months - -

Total non-current portion - -

Total other financial assets 9,596  10,000 

Fair value

Term deposits 
The fair value of current term deposits is deemed to be the carrying value. 
Impairment 
There were no impairment provisions for other financial assets. None of the financial assets are either past due or impaired.
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Breakdown of inventories and further information
2019 2018

$000 $000

Inventories held for distribution

Materials and consumables 12 16

Commercial inventories

Student café 3 2

Total inventories 15 18

No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities (2018 $nil).  However, some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

Inventories held for distribution
There have been no write downs of inventories held for distribution during the year (2018 $nil) and there have been no reversals of write-downs 
(2018 $nil).

8. INVENTORIES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Inventories are held for distribution or for use in the provision of services.  Inventories that are not supplied on a commercial 
basis are measured at cost adjusted, when applicable, for any loss of service potential.

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Inventories held for use in the production of goods and services on a commercial basis are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

Cost is allocated using first in, first out (FIFO) method, which assumes the inventories that were purchased first are 
distributed or used first.

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service potential or from cost to net realisable value is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit in the year of the write-down.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Property, plant, and equipment consist of the following asset classes: land, buildings, leasehold improvements, computer 
hardware, furniture and fittings, electronic equipment motor vehicles, library collection, and art collections.

Land is measured at fair value, and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
All other asset classes are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations

Land and buildings are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that their carrying amount does not differ materially from 
fair value and at least every three years. 

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed annually to ensure that they do not differ materially from fair value. If 
there is evidence supporting a material difference, then the off-cycle asset classes are revalued.

Revaluations of property, plant, and equipment are accounted for on a class-of-asset basis. 

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated to an 
asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class-of-asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the asset revaluation 
reserve, this balance is not recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense but is recognised in the surplus or 
deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or 
deficit will be recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then recognised in other 
comprehensive revenue and expense.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment is recognised as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to NorthTec and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they are 
incurred.

In most instances, an item of property, plant, and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at 
no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. 
Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included 
in property revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to general funds within equity.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use.  They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. Impairment losses are recognised in the surplus or deficit, if any. Increases in fair value (less costs to sell) 
are recognised up to the level of any impairment losses that have been previously recognised. Non-current assets are not 
depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant, and equipment other than land and art collections, 
at rates that will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. Art 
collections are not depreciated because they are maintained such that they have indefinite or sufficiently long useful lives 
that any depreciation is considered to be negligible.
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The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows:

Buildings     1% to 5%

Leasehold improvements   Life of lease

Furniture and fittings   10%

Electronic equipment   25%

Computer hardware   25%

Office equipment    20%

Motor vehicles     20%

Library collection     10%

Art collection    Nil

Plant and tools    10%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated remaining 
useful lives of the improvements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment at each balance date 
and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value, less costs to sell and value in use.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and the carrying 
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Value in use for non-cash-generating assets

Non-cash-generating assets are those assets that are not held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.

For non-cash-generating assets, value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement 
cost approach, restoration cost approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure 
value in use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of information.

Value in use for cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are those assets that are held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.

The value in use for cash-generating assets and cash-generating units is the present value of expected future cash flows.

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
Estimating the fair value of land, buildings and infrastructure

The most recent valuations of land and buildings were performed by independent registered valuers, M Richards B Prop 
ANZIV MPINZ and B Sworn B Prop MPINZ of Telfer Young Ltd.  The valuation is effective as at 31 December 2019. The next 
formal valuation is scheduled as at 31 December 2022.

Land
Land is valued at fair value using market based evidence based on its highest and best use with reference to comparable land 
values.  Adjustments have been made to the “unencumbered” land value for campus land where there is a designation against 
the land, or the use of the land is restricted because of reserve or endowment status.  These adjustments are intended to 
reflect the negative effect on the value of the land where an owner is unable to use the land more intensely.
Restrictions on NorthTec’s ability to sell land would normally not impair the value of the land because NorthTec has 
operational use of the land for the foreseeable future and will subsequently receive the full benefits of outright ownership.

Buildings

Specialised buildings (e.g. campuses) are valued at fair value using depreciated replacement cost because no reliable market 
data is available for buildings designed for education delivery purposes.

Depreciation replacement cost is determined using a number of significant assumptions. Significant assumptions include:

•  The replacement asset is based on the reproduction cost of the specific assets with adjustments where 
    appropriate for obsolescence due to over-design or surplus capacity. 
•  The replacement cost is derived from recent construction contracts of similar assets and Property Institute of  
 New Zealand cost information. 
•  Estimating the remaining useful life of assets. 
•  Straight-line depreciation has been applied in determining the depreciated cost value of the asset.

Non-specialised buildings (e.g. residential buildings) are valued at fair value using market-based evidence. Market rents and 
capitalisation rates were applied to reflect market value.

•  Market rents adopted range from $120 to $155 per square metre. An increase (decrease) in market rents would increase 
   (decrease) the fair value of non-specialised buildings.

•  Capitalisation rates are market-based rates of return and range from 7.5% to 8.5%. An increase (decrease) in the  
    capitalisation rate would decrease (increase) the fair value of non-specialised buildings.

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Crown-owned land and buildings

Property in the legal name of the Crown that is occupied by NorthTec is recognised as an asset in the statement of financial 
position. NorthTec considers that it has assumed all the normal risks and rewards of ownership of this property despite legal 
ownership not being transferred and accordingly it would be misleading to exclude these assets from the financial statements. 
NorthTec has secured the use of the property by means of a lease from the Ministry of Education for 35 years from October 
2010 at $10 rent per annum.

The legal ownership of land and buildings is detailed as follows:

      Land    Buildings

2019 2018 2019 2018
$000 $000 $000 $000

NorthTec owned 2,598 2,486 22,106 17,265

Crown owned 1,592 1,524 13,549 10,581

Total 4,190 4,010 35,655 27,846
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Breakdown of property, plant and equipment and further information 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2019

Cost / Revaluation Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value

Balance at  
1 Jan 2019

Additions/ 
reclassifi- 

cations

Revaluation 
increment/ 

(decrement)

Disposals/
Transfers to 
assets held 

for sale

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2019

Balance at  
1 Jan 
2019 Depreciation

Disposal/ 
elimination 

on 
revaluation

Accumulated 
Depreciation on 

reclassifi- 
cations

Balance 
at 31 Dec 

2019

Balance 
at  

1 Jan 
2019

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2019

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land - - 180 - 4,190 - - - - - 4,010 4,190

Buildings 30,451 135 6,241 (1,594) 35,233 2,605 1,260 (134) (3,732) (1) 27,846 35,234

Leasehold improvements 5,111 13 - (24) 5,100 2,016 271 (24) - 2,263 3,095 2,837

Computers 5,059 459 - (142) 5,377 4,371 454 (122) - 4,703 688 674

Computers (Leased) 618 - - - 618 618 - - - 618 - -

Electronic equipment 1,560 - - (20) 1,540 1,421 72 - - 1,493 139 47

Electronic equipment 
(Leased) 27 - - - 27 27 - (14) - 13 - 14

Furniture and fittings 2,169 34 - (13) 2,191 1,674 98 (12) - 1,759 495 431

Library collection 1,298 53 - - 1,351 795 108 - - 903 503 449

Art collection 500 - - - 500 - - - - - 500 500

Motor vehicles 1,028 40 - (10) 1,057 804 113 (10) - 907 223 150

Office equipment 282 - - (10) 272 265 6 (10) - 261 17 11

Plant and equipment 4,832 407 - (99) 5,140 3,478 293 (77) - 3,694 1,354 1,446

Work in progress 276 1,204 - (1,138) 342 - - - - - 276 342

^ Buildings assets held 
for sale - - - 423 423 - - - - - - 423

Total plant and 
equipment 57,222 2,345 6,421 (2,628) 63,360 18,074 2,674 (404) (3,732) 16,613 39,148 46,748
 
^Classroom buildings held for sale are classified as non-current assets held for sale. See Statement of Financial Position.

Breakdown of property, plant and equipment and further information 

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2018
Cost / Revaluation Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value

Balance at  
1 Jan 2018

Additions/ 
reclassifi- 

cations Disposals

Balance at  
31 Dec 

2018
Balance at  

1 Jan 2018 Depreciation

Disposal/ 
elimination on 

revaluation
Balance at 

31 Dec 2018
Balance at  

1 Jan 2018
Balance at 

31 Dec 2018

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 4,010 - - 4,010 - - - - 4,010 4,010

Buildings 30,369 82 - 30,451 1,316 1,289 - 2,605 29,053 27,846

Leasehold improvements 5,111 - - 5,111 1,753 263 - 2,016 3,358 3,095

Computer hardware 4,907 154 (2) 5,059 3,904 467 - 4,371 1,003 688

Computers (Leased) 618 - - 618 618 - - 618 - -

Electronic equipment 1,491 69 - 1,560 1,335 80 6 1,421 156 139

Electronic equipment (Leased) 27 - - 27 27 - - 27 - -

Furniture and fittings 2,100 77 (8) 2,169 1,580 94 - 1,674 520 495

Library collection 1,261 37 - 1,298 681 114 - 795 580 503

Art collection 500 - 500 - - - - 500 500

Motor vehicles 1,028 - - 1,028 662 142 - 804 365 223

Office equipment 282 - - 282 259 6 - 265 23 17

Plant and equipment 4,755 91 (14) 4,832 3,191 282 5 3,478 1,564 1,354

Work in progress 102 174 276 - - - - 102 276

Total plant and equipment 56,562 684 (24) 57,222 15,326 2,737 11 18,074 41,236 39,148
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Restriction on title 
Under the Education Act 1989, NorthTec is required to obtain consent from the Ministry of Education to dispose or sell off property 
where the value of the property exceeds an amount determined by the Minister.
Detailed information on the asset disposal rules can be found on the Tertiary Education Commission website.

Leasing

The net carrying amount of computers and electronic equipment (included within computer hardware) held under finances leases is 
nil  (2018: nil)

Work in progress

The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is $341,748 (2018: $275,560).  Work in progress 
by asset class is as follows

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

2019 2018
$000 $000

Building structures 265 12

Computers 16 5

Furniture and fittings 2 259

Library 0 0

Motor vehicles 0 0

Electronic equipment 0 0

Plant and equipment 32 0

Intangibles 28 0

Total work in progress 342 276

Capital commitments 
Capital commitments represent capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred.
The amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is:

2019 2018
$000 $000

Building structures 14 11

Computer hardware 16 9

Plant and equipment 0 0

Electronic equipment 0 0

Furniture and fittings 0 0

Total 30 20
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Software acquisition and development 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use, are recognised as an intangible asset. 
Direct costs include the software development employee related costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Course development costs

Costs that are directly associated with the development of new educational courses are recognised as an intangible asset to 
the extent that such costs are expected to be recovered. The development costs primarily consist of employee costs.

Intellectual property development

Research costs are expensed as incurred in the surplus or deficit.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design, construction, and testing of pre-production or pre-use 
prototypes and models associated with intellectual property development are recognised as an intangible asset if all the 
following can be demonstrated:

• It is technically feasible to complete the product so that it will be available for use or sale. 
• Management intends to complete the product and use or sell it. 
• There is an ability to use or sell the product. 
• It can be demonstrated how the product will generate probable future economic benefits. 
• Adequate technical, financial, and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the product are  
   available. 
• The expenditure attributable to the product during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenses that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred in the surplus or 
deficit. Development costs previously recognised as an expense cannot be subsequently recognised as an asset.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Computer software  3 - 5 years  20% to 33.3%
Course development costs 5 years  20%
Teaching licences  3 - 5 years  20% to 33.3%

Capitalised intellectual property development costs are still work in progress. The useful life of completed projects will be 
established at project completion.
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Breakdown of intangible assets and further information
Movement for each class of intangible asset is as follows:

Software

Course  
development  

costs
Teaching  
licences

Work 
in progress Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 January 2019

Cost 1,279 1,515 151 0 2,945

Accumulated amortisation 1,191 1,207 146 0 2,544

Accumulated impairment 0 0 0 0 0

Opening carrying amount 88 308 5 0 401

Year ended 31 December 2019

Additions 5 0 0 0 5

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0

Amortisation (51) (84) (3) 0 (139)

Closing carrying amount 42 224 2 0 267

Balance at 31 December 2019

Cost 1,284 1,515 151 0 2,950

Accumulated amortisation 1,242 1,291 149 0 2,683

Accumulated impairment 0 0 0 0 0

Closing carrying amount 42 224 2 0 267

Balance at 1 January 2018

Cost 1,294 1,318 150 83 2,845

Accumulated amortisation 1,113 1,079 142 0 2,334

Accumulated impairment 0 0 0 0 0

Opening carrying amount 181 239 8 83 511

Year ended 31 December 2018

Additions 0 211 0 0 211

Disposals (5) 0 0 (69) (74)

Amortisation (93) (137) (3) 0 (233)

Closing carrying amount 83 313 5 14 415

Balance at 31 December 2018

Cost 1,289 1,529 150 14 2,982

Accumulated amortisation 1,206 1,216 145 0 2,567

Accumulated impairment 0 0 0 0 0

Closing carrying amount 83 313 5 14 415

Balance at 1 January 2019 has been stated to reflect current classification of intangibles classes and shift work in progress already reported within the 
breakdown of property, plant and equipment. The net difference to 2018 is considered immaterial therefore the 2018 audited financial statements remain 
unchanged. 

There are no restrictions over the title of NorthTec’s intangible assets. No intangible assets are pledged as security for liabilities.

There were no contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets for the Institute (2018: $nil).

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets subsequently measured at cost that have an indefinite useful life, or are not yet available for use, are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

For further details refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant and equipment in Note 9. The same approach applies 
to the impairment of intangible assets.
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NorthTec holds a 14% share in Tertiary Accord of New Zealand Limited and a 16.67% share in TANZ ECampus Limited.  1,134,103 ordinary shares 
in TANZ ECampus Limited issued to NorthTec, and fully paid as at 31 December 2019  at $1.00 per share (2018: 1,134,103 ordinary shares in TANZ 
ECampus Limited). 

NorthTec has a 25% share ($0 carrying amount) in Motortrain (which is not trading) as at 31 December 2019.  Motortrain is jointly an Associate of the 
Wellington Institute of Technology, Waikato Institute of Technology, NorthTec and Southern Institute of Technology.  NorthTec has contributed  $2,195 
to Motortrain in 2019 (2018: $7,170).

11. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND  
       JOINT VENTURES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Associate 
An associate is an entity over which the Institute has significant influence.  Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of another entity but is not control or joint control of those policies. The 
Institute’s associate investment is accounted for in the financial statements using the equity method.  The investment in an 
associate is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the group’s share 
of the change in net assets of the associate after the date of acquisition.  The Institute’s share of the associate’s surplus 
or deficit is recognised in the Institute’s surplus or deficit.  Distributions received from an associate reduce the carrying 
amount of the investment in the group financial statements.  Adjustments to the carrying amount also include changes in the 
Institute’s proportionate interest in the associate arising from changes in its other comprehensive revenue and expense. 

TANZ eCampus Ltd is jointly owned by six New Zealand Polytechnics, one of which is NorthTec. TANZ eCampus was set up 
to develop and run an on-line e-learning platform and offers a variety of programmes that are delivered 100% on-line. The 
investment in TANZ eCampus Ltd has been equity accounted in 2019, for NorthTec’s 1/6th share. 

The Institute, along with five other Polytechnics, have equal shareholding in the company.  This investment has 
been determined to be an investment in an associate because of the Institute’s membership on the Board of TANZ 
eCampus Limited, and the ability to participate in the financial and operating policy decision of TANZ eCampus 
Limited.                                                                                                                                                                                                          

PBE IPSAS 34-38 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures replaced the existing standards for interests in other 
entities (PBE IPSAS 6-8) and has no impact on these financial statements. The new standards are effective for annual period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Institute has applied these new standards in preparing the 31 December 2019 
financial statements. There are no material changes from applying these new standards due to the Investment in TANZ 
eCampus Ltd being treated on an equity accounting basis.

Joint Venture 
Investments in jointly controlled entities are carried at cost in NorthTec’s parent entity financial statements.

Investments in other entities
Shares
Unlisted shares are held in non-commercial entities and are carried at cost because: 
•  fair value cannot be reliably determined using a standardised valuation technique; or 
•  the cost is not materially different to fair value.
There is currently no intention to dispose of these investments.

Institute
2019 2018
$000 $000

Investment in TANZ eCampus Limited  1,151  1,215 

Summarised financial information of associate presented on a gross basis

Assets  7,565  8,145 

Liabilities (660) (853)

Revenues  6,422  5,795 

Surplus/(Deficit) (267) 510

Institute's interest 16.67% 16.67%
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12. PAYABLES

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Short-term creditors and other short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.

Breakdown of payables and further information
2019 2018
$000 $000

Payables under exchange transactions
Creditors  2,778  1,337 
Accrued expenses  1,004  834 
Total payables under exchange transactions  3,782  2,171 

Payables under non-exchange transactions
Taxes payable (e.g. GST, FBT and rates)  767  792 

Total payable  4,549  2,963 

Payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of payables approximates their fair value.

13. DEFERRED REVENUE

Breakdown of deferred revenue and further information
2019 2018
$000 $000

Tuition fees  5,513  5,950 
Other revenue received in advance  34  76 

Total deferred revenue  5,547  6,026 

Further information about deferred revenue items

Deferred revenue from tuition fees includes both liabilities recognised for domestic student fees received for which the course withdrawal date has 
not yet passed and for international student fees, which is based on the percentage completion of the course.
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Breakdown of employee entitlements
2019 2018
$000 $000

Current portion

Accrued pay  588  642 

Long service leave  1  2 

Annual leave  975  1,063 

Total current portion 1,564 1,706 

Non-current portion

Long service leave 14 15 

Total non-current portion 14 15 

Total employee entitlements 1,578 1,721 

14. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Short-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the year in which the employee renders the 
related service are measured at nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to, but not yet taken, at balance date, 
and sick leave.

A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick 
leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can 
be carried forward at balance date to the extent it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.

A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where there is a contractual obligation or where there is a past practice 
that has created a constructive obligation.

Long-term employee entitlements 

Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the year in which the employee renders the 
related service, such as long service leave, have been calculated based on:

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that 
   staff will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information; and 
• the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Presentation of employee entitlements

Sick leave, annual leave, and vested long service leave are classified as a current liability. Non-vested long service leave and 
retirement gratuities expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are classified as a current liability.  All other 
employee entitlements are classified as a non-current liability.
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2019 2018
$000 $000

General funds
Balance at 1 January 24,281 28,049
Transfer from revaluation reserve 222 -
Adj for change in accounting policy - -
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (4,826) (3,768)
Balance 31 December 19,678 24,281

Property revaluation reserves
Balance at 1 January 21,666 21,666
Land net revaluation gains 180 -
Buildings net revaluation gains 9,973 -
Building transfer to general funds (222) -
Balance at 31 December 31,597 21,666

Property revaluation reserves consist of:
Land 4,369 4,189
Buildings 27,228 17,477
Plant and equipment - -
Total property revaluation reserves 31,597 21,666

Restricted reserves
Balance at 1 January 81 81
Transfer from surplus - -
Application of reserve funds - -

Balance at 31 December 81 81

Total equity 51,356 46,028

15. EQUITY

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into the 
following components: 
• General funds 
• Property revaluation reserves 
• Restricted reserves.

Property revaluation reserves 
These reserves relate to the revaluation of land and buildings to fair value.

Restricted reserves 
Restricted reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of equity have 
been assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or created by NorthTec. Transfers from these reserves may be made only 
for certain specified purposes or when certain specified conditions are met.

Capital management

NorthTec’s capital is its equity, which comprises general funds and reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. 

NorthTec is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Education Act 1989, which includes restrictions in relation to: 

disposing of assets or interests in assets, ability to mortgage or otherwise charge assets or interests in assets, granting leases of land or buildings or 

parts of buildings, and borrowing.

NorthTec manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings prudently and in a manner that promotes the 

current and future interests of the community. NorthTec’s equity is largely managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 

investments, and general financial dealings.

The objective of managing NorthTec’s equity is to ensure that it effectively and efficiently achieves the goals and objectives for which it has been 

established, while remaining a going concern.
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A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when: 
•      there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 
•      it is probably that an outflow of future economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; and 
•      a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measure at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

16. PROVISIONS

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are:

• within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship; and
• on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that are reasonable to expect that NorthTec would have adopted 

in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances. 

Further, transactions with Government agencies (for example, Government departments and Crown entities) are not disclosed as 
related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements with TEIs and undertaken on the normal 
terms and conditions for such transactions.

Related party transactions required to be disclosed

TANZ eCampus Limited, in conjunction with the Tertiary Accord of New Zealand (TANZ), have been developing an eCampus platform, 
associated infrastructure and programmes.  From January 2015 to February 2017 NorthTec held their share of the associated 
intangible assets until sale and purchase agreements transferred NorthTec’s share of the assets to TANZ eCampus Limited in 
exchange for shares.  This was completed on 22 December 2017. 

NorthTec also enters into other transactions with the Company in the normal course of business. This includes shareholders’ levies, 
and purchase of a range of services.

As at 31 December 2019 nil (2018: nil) is held as a debtor in association with the transactions.

During the financial period to 31 December 2019, NorthTec had the following transactions with TANZ eCampus Limited:

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

2019 2018

Shareholder levies  -  - 

Purchase services  800,716  684,257 

Purchase intangible assets  -  - 

Call on shares  -  187,130 

Receivables at 31 December  -  - 

Payables at 31 December  55,843  107,907 

Total Related Party TANZ eCampus Ltd Transactions 856,559 979,294 

Breakdown of provisions 2019 2018
Current portion

General provision  1,109  1,109 

Restructuring provision  -  - 

Total provisions  1,109  1,109 

The general provision relates to invoices issued by a supplier against which NorthTec considers a contingent liability exists as disclosed under note 20. The 

provision continues to be valued at the carrying amount of the invoices as this matter remains unresolved as at balance date.
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Key management personnel compensation 2019 2018
Council members

Full-time equivalent members  6.3  8.0 

Remuneration $105,880 $133,200

Executive Management Team, including the Chief Executive

Full-time equivalent members  5.8  5.1 

Remuneration $1,074,259 $982,439

Full-time equivalent members  12.1  13.1 

Total key management personnel compensation $1,180,139 $1,115,639

The full-time equivalent for Council members has been determined based on the frequency and length of Council meetings and the estimated time 
for members to prepare for meetings.

An analysis of Council member remuneration is provided in Note 3.

Subsequent events - Transition under the Education (Vocational Education and Training and Reform) Amendment Act (the Act)

The Minister of Education announced the Government’s decisions on the Reform of Vocational Education proposals on 1 August 2019. 
The Act reforms the delivery of vocational education in New Zealand by creating a new Crown entity, the New Zealand Institute of Skills 
and Technology (NZIST) and converting all existing institutes of technology and polytechnics (ITPs) into crown entity companies on 1 
April 2020, which will take over the operational activities of existing ITPs.

Due to these changes NorthTec has prepared its financial statements on a disestablishment basis. However, there have been no 
changes to the measurement or classification of assets and liabilities in the financial statements, as it is expected that vocational 
education will continue to be provided through NorthTec. Decisions about the future of these assets and liabilities will be the 
responsibility of the new entity.

Subsequent events - Coronavirus/Covid-19

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a coronavirus (COVID-19) a pandemic and two weeks later 
the New Zealand Government declared a State of National Emergency. From this, the country is at Alert Level 4, and in lockdown. As a 
result, economic uncertainties have arisen which are likely to negatively affect our operations and services.

We describe below the possible effects that we have identified on NorthTec as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

• Government Tuition Funding: The Minister of Education has confirmed that 2020 funding for Investment Plans and Fees Free will 
continue. In addition, the Minister confirmed that there would not be recovery of any Investment Plan funding because of either, 
poor Education Performance Indicators (EPIs), or under-delivery during the 2020 year. Government tuition funding is mostly 
covered by the Crown Funding guarantee, however, there could be uncertainties regarding Crown revenue not subject to the 
guarantee.

• Domestic and International student fees and charges, including the potential loss of current and prospective students due to 
the disruption and/or pressures created by COVID-19. Online and blended delivery has, and continues to be developed and 
implemented in order to mitigate impacts and further support students during the lockdown period.

• There are potential implications for other income sources, for example reduced interest income from holding fewer term deposits 
as a defensive cash flow strategy.

• The direct cost impact of the Alert Level 4 lockdown on salaries for staff, leases or other related costs.
• Additional cost for moving teaching online, and the costs associated with supporting students to be able to study online.
• The impact on ongoing short term business operations and medium-long term business operations as a result of the Alert Level 4 

lockdown.
• The impact on non-financial reporting. We anticipate that our progress towards many of the indicators reported in the Statement 

of Service Performance will be affected in 2020. This is particularly the case for indicators relating to research and consultancy 
income, graduate outcomes, student numbers, and equity measures.

• Cost recovery from local employers for full cost recover courses.
• Additional costs arising from repayments to students for residential accommodation including student accommodation costs and 

revenue.

At this time it is difficult to determine the full effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, and there could be other matters that affect NorthTec.

18. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
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Prior year has been restated to exclude taxes payable.

19B   Financial instruments risk
NorthTec's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
NorthTec has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments. It is risk averse and seeks to 
minimise exposure from its treasury activities. These policies do not allow any transactions which are speculative in nature to be 
entered into.

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates.

NorthTec purchases library items from overseas which exposes it to currency risk. NorthTec does not consider currency risk to 
be a significant risk due to the purchase amounts being immaterial.

Fair value interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 
rates. Borrowings and investments issued at fixed rates of interest create exposure to fair value interest rate risk. NorthTec does 
not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk and does not consider it to be a significant risk due as NorthTec 
does not hold a diversified investment portfolio and has no borrowings.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Borrowings and investments issued at variable interest rates create exposure to cash flow interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to NorthTec, causing it to incur a loss. Due to the timing of its 
cash inflows and outflows, surplus cash is invested into term deposits, which give rise to credit risk.

In the normal course of business, NorthTec is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with banks, and receivables. 
For each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the statement of financial 
position.

NorthTec invests funds only with registered banks that have a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of AA, and other financial 
institutions approved by NorthTec Council as having the required credit rating, and further minimises its credit exposure by 
limiting the amounts placed with any one institution at any one time.

NorthTec holds no collateral or other credit enhancement for financial instruments that give rise to credit risk.

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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19A   Financial instruments categories
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

Financial assets
2019 2018
$000 $000

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents  3,168  3,684 

Receivables  2,739  3,161 

Other financial assets:

  Term deposits  9,596  10,000 

Total loans and receivables at amortised cost  15,503  16,845 

Financial liabilities
2019 2018
$000 $000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Payables  3,782  2,172

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  3,782  2,172 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19B   Financial instruments risk (continued)

Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s 
credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counter-party default rates:

2019 2018
 Counter-parties with credit ratings $000 $000

Cash at bank and term deposits
AA
AA-  12,764  13,684 

Total cash at bank and term deposits  12,764  13,684 

Counter-parties without credit ratings

Receivables
Existing counter-party with no default in the past  2,739  3,161 
Total debtors and other receivables  2,739  3,161 

Liquidity risk

Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that NorthTec will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities, and the ability to close out market positions. NorthTec aims to maintain flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available.

NorthTec manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow requirements and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities, excluding derivatives

The table below analyses financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at balance date to the contractual maturity date. Future interest payments on floating rate debt are based on the floating 
rate on the instrument at balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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Payables Employee 
entitlements Total

$000 $000 $000

Carrying amount 3,782  - 3,782 
Contractual cash flows 3,782 - 3,782  
Less than 6 months 3,782 - 3,782  
6 - 12 months - - - 
1 - 2 years - - - 
2 - 3 years - - - 
More than 3 years - - - 

2018
Payables Employee 

entitlements Total

$000 $000 $000

Carrying amount 2,171 - 2,171 
Contractual cash flows 2,171 - 2,171 
Less than 6 months 2,171 - 2,171 
6 - 12 months - - - 
1 - 2 years - - - 
2 - 3 years - - - 
More than 3 years - - - 
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19B   Financial instruments risk (continued)

Contractual maturity analysis of financial assets

The table below analyses financial assets into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance date to 
the contractual maturity date.

20.  CONTINGENCIES
NorthTec has a contingent liability in the form of a counterclaim against invoices issued by a supplier. This is unresolved as at 
balance date. NorthTec has no contingent assets.
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2019

Cash and cash 
equivalents Receivables

Other Financial 
Assets  

(Term Deposits)
Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount  3,168 2,739 9,596 15,503 
Contractual cash flows  3,168 2,739 9,596 15,503 
Less than 6 months  3,168 2,739 7,596 13,503 
6 - 12 months - - 2,000 2,000 
1 - 2 years - - - - 
2 - 3 years - - - - 
More than 3 years - - - - 

2018

Cash and cash 
equivalents Receivables

Other Financial 
Assets  

(Term Deposits)
Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount  3,684 3,161 10,000 16,845 
Contractual cash flows  3,684 3,161 10,000 16,845 
Less than 6 months  3,684 3,161 5,500 12,345 
6 - 12 months - - 4,500 4,500 
1 - 2 years - - - - 
2 - 3 years - - - - 
More than 3 years - - - - 

Explanations for major variations against the budget information at the start of the financial year are as follows:

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES
Government grants 
Government grants were $2 million below budget. $1.8 million was a result of underachievement of NorthTec’s allocated funding 
from the Tertiary Education Commission (Student Achievement Component (SAC) $1.09 million and Youth Guarantee $0.5 
million). $0.2 million was a result of reduced ITO student numbers (Industry Training Organisation).

Tuition fees 
Tuition fees were $0.67 million below budget as a consequence of underachieved targets in SAC fee paying students.

Personnel costs 
Personnel costs were $0.5 million below budget following the discontinuation of an initiative for additional delivery to international 
students in Whangārei.

21.  EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST  
        BUDGET
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21.  EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST  
        BUDGET (CONTINUED)
Other expenses 
Other expenses were $1.5 million below budget with $1.4 million attributable to lower course-related costs ($0.4 million due to the 
discontinuation of an International initiative, $0.5 million due to eCampus delivery numbers being underachieved against budget, $0.4 
million of costs related to delivering to lower number of students). Advertising and marketing expenditure was maintained at $0.3 million 
below budget.

Property revaluations 
Land and buildings were revalued as at 31 December 2019 in accordance with NorthTec’s three year revaluation policy resulting in a 
$10.1 million increase against the Property Revaluation Reserves. The effect of the revaluation was not budgeted for.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Cash and cash equivalents, and other financial assets 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Other Financial Assets were $3.7 million higher than budget following lower expenditure and payments to 
suppliers.

Receivables and Deferred Revenue 
Receivables and deferred revenue were both $1.0 million higher than budget attributable to forward invoicing in 2019 for 2020 not being 
budgeted for.

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment were $9 million higher than budget. Land and buildings were revalued as at 31 December 2019 in 
accordance with NorthTec’s three year revaluation policy accounting for $10.1 million of the increase to Property, Plant and Equipment. 
This is offset by the loss on disposal of plant and equipment at NorthTec’s Rawene campus of $1.07 million. The effects of the revaluation 
and disposal were not budgeted for.

Payables 
Payables were $2.5 million higher than budget which is largely attributable to the level of funding recovery due to the Tertiary Education 
Commission due to underachieved targets, against a budget assumption that government funding will be achieved in full. Increased 
campus maintenance at the end of the financial year as part of NorthTec’s Vibrant Campus initiative was also not budgeted for.

Property revaluation reserves 
Property revaluation reserves were $9.9 million above budget due to the land and buildings revaluation not being budgeted for.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Receipts from tuition fees 
Receipts from tuition fees were $1.0 million below budget attributable to underachievement of budgeted student numbers and higher 
actual receivables balance than budgeted.

Receipts from other revenue 
Receipts from other revenue were $0.6 million higher than budget due to a budget assumption based on maintaining the level as 
forecasted for the prior year.

Payments to suppliers 
Payments to suppliers were $2.9 million below budget in line as reflected in the reduced operating expenditure in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year were $0.7 million above budget as reflected by the Statement of Financial Position 
following lower expenditure and payments to suppliers.
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Equal Employment Opportunities 

Northland Polytechnic strives to celebrate equity and diversity in our workforce through the creation of an inclusive workplace culture that celebrates our 
people’s unique backgrounds, qualities and contributions, and in which all individuals are supported towards achieving their full potential. We recognise that 
members of equity groups are more likely than others to experience barriers to achieving their full potential. Northland Polytechnic will prioritise support for 
members of identified equity groups. NorthTec also recognises Māori as tangata whenua and is committed to upholding Te Tiriti o Waitangi. Māori individuals 
have a distinct status at Northland Polytechnic under the provisions of the Treaty.

Northland Polytechnic fosters an environment that is based on individual merit, where all employees can develop their full potential, irrespective of their 
background or characteristics. As an Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) employer, Northland Polytechnic works to eliminate all barriers that cause or 
perpetuate inequality in employment through the promotion of equal employment opportunities in recruitment, employment, performance management, and 
training and promotion practices. 

Student Equity Statement 
Ākonga (learners) speak with heart-felt gratitude about the exemplary manaakitanga provided by Te Ara Poutama - Student Support Services - Librarians, Academic 
Advisors, Nurses, Navigators - Student Advisors, Disabilities Co-ordinator, Chaplain and Management. This team of highly skilled and caring staff is ākonga-centred in 
their practice and support initiatives to promote success by:

• providing a comprehensive digital library  
• supporting with class attendance 
• supporting with assessments and assignments 
• improving access to education by removing barriers 
• supporting youth  
• supporting ākonga with disabilities 
• navigating ākonga through the NorthTec systems and processes 
• by ensuring that our ākonga feel safe, supported, healthy and respected.           

The Health Centre team provided 2,380 consultations and Vitae provided 84 counselling sessions, with female ākonga aged between 16-24 being the highest users. 

The number of students supported by the Student Success team - Navigators, Academic Advisors and Disabilities- 1,732. The total number of support cases 
identified by programme was 5,282. The increase (doubled since 2018) is due to a culture of manaakitanga within Te Ara Poutama, which is based on kind and 
respectful leadership, flexibility, mindfulness and resilience. 

Library support provided in 2019 included excellent customer service, information literacy instruction, APA referencing assistance, Māori collection and general 
collections, inter-loans, research support to degree programmes, hardcopy books, growing access to e-books, eTV, online chat service, study spaces, a computer 
suite, printers/scanners/copiers, laptop loans, access to online electronic databases and comprehensive digital library. Library resources are also provided at the 
Future Trades Campus, Kensington-ASB Stadium and available to all ākonga enrolled at NorthTec via our online resources or distance library services.

EQUITY STATEMENT 
MANA TAURITE

STAFF MĀORI
22% 2019 
24%  2018
23% 2017

STAFF FEMALE
55.0% 2019 
55.0%  2018
55.0% 2017

86



Compulsory Student Service Fees
In 2019 NorthTec charged a compulsory student services fee of $200 per Equivalent Full Time Student (domestic fee-paying students only 
- excluding online and Auckland based students). Accounting requirements for Compulsory Student Service Fees and Expenditure NorthTec 

accounts separately for the revenue and expenditure related to the compulsory student services fee. 

Student Services Activities
2019 Income 2019 % of Income 2019 Expenditure 2019 % of Expenditure

Advocacy $73,027 26% $90,027 26%

Careers, information, advice and guidance $508 0% $626 0%

Counselling services $20,409 7% $25,160 7%

Employment information - 0% - 0%

Financial support and advice $396 0% $488 0%

Health services $165,518 59% $204,048 59%

Media $3,103 1% $3,714 1%

Childcare services - 0% - 0%

Clubs and societies $1,095 0% $1,350 0%

Sports, recreation and cultural activities $16,008 6% $19,734 6%

Total Student Services Activities $279,974 $345,147
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Key initiatives and services in 2019 included: 

• Student Voice team of a Student Voice Coordinator and a 
Kaiawhina. Twelve students committed to being a part of the 
transition team (student rep group), representing certificate 
to degree programmes and regional campuses.

• Off-site student led Orientation social events. 
• Hardship initiatives Aroha mai, aroha atu Can Drive in 

Raumanga and Kaikohe campus. 

Advocacy
Student Voice provide advocacy support for students by promoting 
student representation and training to share collaborative ideas 
and feedback on behalf of their classes/programmes while 
providing access for student voice at all levels of the organisation 
where relevant. In addition, Student Voice promoted student 
leadership by providing resources and relevant training, Te Matatau 
Leadership Training.

Counselling Services 
All NorthTec students have access to Free Counselling Services. 
Students can book an appointment via an online service (Vitae) 
or approach any member of Te Ara Poutama - Student Support 
Services, especially the nurse at the Health Centre. 

Health Services
The Student Health Centre, based at Raumanga campus, was 
staffed by two experienced Registered Nurses during semester 
one and then one nurse in semester two through to the end of the 
year. The nurse offers a comprehensive range of professional and 
confidential health services for all students. Scheduled services 
are also provided at Dyer Street with phone and online support 
provided to regional students. This year we partnered with the 
Family Planning Clinic to provide a Sexual and Reproductive Health 
Outreach Service based at the Raumanga Campus. The clinics were 
so successful that they will continue to be offered in 2020. 

Media
Student Voice uses a range of media to communicate and promote 
student-centric events and important notifications such has social 
media, published posters, radio and merchandise. 

Clubs and Societies 
Student Voice delivered a number of events focused on improving 
the student experience, engaging students to obtain feedback 
of services and experiences, and improving culture on campus 
through events encouraging whanaungatanga. 

External clubs and societies are given the opportunity to promote 
their service during Orientation and events held through the year. 

Sports, Recreation and Cultural Activities 
Through Student Voice we supported student study wānanga, 
mentoring and student attendance at national hui and conferences. 
Activities scheduled throughout the year are designed to engage 
and support students. These include Kai and Catch up, Aroha mai, 
Aroha atu – Hardship initiative, Spring it on, feedback events, 
Smoke Free campus events and Te wiki o te reo Māori.
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Authored Book 1 1

Chapter in Book 1 2 3 1 7

Conference Contribution - Other 7 9 6 1 3 26

Creative Work 39 39

Journal Article 5 3 10 1 2 21

Oral Presentation 4 4 9 1 1 19

Other Form of Assessable Output 7 13 13 1 34

Thesis 1 1 2

TOTAL 12 51 14 37 26 7 2 149

2019 Summary of Research Outputs

RESEARCH 
OUTPUTS 2019

AUTHORED BOOK
Derrick, K., & Jenkins, J. (2019). Scoria: Short prose from the cinder cone. 

Kerikeri, New Zealand: Pavlova Press.

CHAPTER IN BOOK
Aitken, R., Lenthall, S., & Mackay, B. (2019). Rural and remote area 

nursing. In D. Brown, H. Edwards, T. Buckley & R. Aitken (Eds.), 

Lewis’s medical-surgical nursing: Assessment and management of 

clinical problems (5th ed., pp. 172-185). Chatswood, Australia: 

Elsevier.

Algawiaz, D., Dobbie, G., & Alam, S. (2019). PRARS: Risk assessment 

model for recommender systems. In H. Fujita & A. Selamat (Eds.), 

Advancing technology industrialization through intelligent software 

methodologies, tools and techniques (pp. 701-710). Amsterdam, The 

Netherlands: IOS Press. 

Begman, M.-M. (2019). Botched. In Huia short stories 13: Contemporary 

Māori fiction (pp. 13-15). Wellington, New Zealand: Huia.

Bell, Z. (2019). Unravelling. In Horizons 4: Poems and stories (pp. 21-26). 

Nelson, New Zealand: New Zealand Society of Authors, Top of the 

South Branch.  

Bennett, R. (2019). The loudest voice. In M. Buompensiero, R. Sleeth, J. 

Benson & T. Leech (Eds.), The guilded pen: Lost, found, still looking… 

(8th ed., pp. 155-162). San Diego, CA: San Diego Writers and Editors 

Guild.

Humagain, S., & Sinha, R. (2019). Routing autonomous emergency 

vehicles in smart cities using real time systems analogy: A conceptual 

model.  In 2019 IEEE 17th International Conference on Industrial 

Informatics (INDIN) (Vol. 1, pp.1097-1102). IEEE. Available from 

https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpl/conhome/8961950/proceeding

Smith, E. (2019). Herbert Boucher Dobbie 1852-1940. In D. Armitage 

(Ed.), True tales of Central Whangārei (pp. 125-126). Whangārei, New 

Zealand: Don Armitage.

Research Outputs 2019
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Research Outputs 2019

CONFERENCE CONTRIBUTION – OTHER
Alam, S. (2019, April 14-17). Biologically inspired techniques for Data 

Mining (BDM’19). PAKDD 8th workshop organised and chaired at 

the 23rd Pacific-Asia Conference on Knowledge Discovery and 

Data Mining (PAKDD’19), Macau, China.

Alam, S., Algawiaz, D., & Dobbie, G. (2019, November 14-16). 

Predicting a user’s purchase intention using AdaBoost. Paper 

presented at the 14th International Conference on Intelligent 

Systems and Knowledge Engineering, ISKE 2019, Dalian, China.

AL-Sa’di, A., Skammelsen, R. B., Ji, Q., Bhogadi, A., Xiang, Y., & 

Kuppusamy, S. (2019, November 15-16). Usability evaluation 

for user interface design of student support system: Mixed 

method study. Paper presented at the International Conference 

on Information Technology and Digital Applications (ICITDA), 

Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

Ball, O. J.-P., Fitzgerald, B. M., Thorpe, S., & Whaley, P. (2019, 

December 1-5). Congruence of beetle and spider communities 

across sites and habitats: Perspectives from Te Paki. Poster 

session presented at the New Zealand Ecological Society 

Conference, Christchurch, New Zealand. 

Barton, P. (2019, November 18-20). “He maunga teitei” nursing’s 

lofty mountain - Nursing education and Māori. Paper presented 

at the Australasian Nurse Educators Conference, Dunedin, New 

Zealand.

Bell, Z. (2019, July 15-19). Can white write black? Paper presented 

at the Association for Commonwealth Literature and Language 

Studies (ACLALS) Conference, Auckland, New Zealand.

Bell, Z. (2019, August 22-25). The joy of writing: Going with the flow. 

Paper presented at the Romance Writers of New Zealand (RWNZ) 

Conference, Christchurch, New Zealand.

Bell, Z. (2019, August 30-September 1). Pursuing the craft. Paper 

presented at the New Zealand Society of Authors (NZSA) 

NorthWrite Conference 2019, Whangārei, New Zealand. 

Bell, Z. (2019, December 3-7). That bloody plague: Living the horror 

of the 1918 influenza epidemic. Paper presented at the Australian 

and New Zealand Society of the History of Medicine (ANZSHM) 

Conference, Auckland, New Zealand.

Bruce-Iri, P. (2019, April 15-16). Citizen science and the climate crisis. 

Paper presented at the Institutes of Technology and Polytechnics 

(ITP) Research Symposium Whanaungatanga, Napier, New 

Zealand.

Bruce-Iri, P. (2019, October 3). Differentiating capstone projects in 

a business degree. Paper presented at the New Zealand Applied 

Business Education (NZABE) Conference, Christchurch, New 

Zealand. 

Fiori, L., Martinez, E., Orams, M. B., & Bollard, B. (2019, October 

8-11). Swim with humpback whales in Vava’u, Kingdom of 

Tonga: Behavioural responses of mothers and calves to swimmer 

approaches. Paper presented at the World Whale Conference, 

Hervey Bay, Australia.  

Fiori, L., Martinez, E., Orams, M. B., & Bollard, B. (2019, December 

7-12). Using unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) to investigate the 

effect of tourism activities on cetaceans: An aerial perspective on 

humpback whale behavioral responses to swim-with interactions in 

Vava’u, Kingdom of Tonga. Paper presented at the World Marine 

Mammal Conference, Barcelona, Spain. 

Humagain, S., & Sinha, R. (2019, July 22-25). Routing autonomous 

emergency vehicles in smart cities using real-time system analogy: 

A conceptual model.  Paper presented at the IEEE International 

Conference on Industrial Informatics, INDIN’19: Industrial 

Applications of Artificial Intelligence, Espoo, Finland.

Lye, A. (2019, October 3). Constructive alignment paradox - does it 

deliver student learning? Paper presented at the New Zealand 

Applied Business Education (NZABE) Conference, Christchurch, 

New Zealand.

Lye, A. (2019, October 3). Exploring customer queue perceptions 

and satisfaction. Paper presented at the New Zealand Applied 

Business Education (NZABE) Conference, Christchurch, New 

Zealand.

McConnell, C., Gibson, H., Clark, A., Ross, C., & Stansfield, J. (2019, 

June 24-26). Community development education: Practice insights 

from around the world. Paper presented at the World Community 

Development Conference, Dundee, Scotland.

Morgan, D., Innes, J., & Waas, J. (2019, August 20-21). Should we 

fuss about magpies? Magpie impacts on birds in New Zealand. 

Paper presented at the Sanctuaries of New Zealand Inc. (SONZI) 

Conference, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Morgan, D., Palmer, J., & Stalmann, J. (2019, December 2-5). Does 

the Chew Card Survey Protocol correlate with the Tracking Tunnel 

Survey Protocol for rodents? Poster presentation at the New 

Zealand Ecological Society Conference, Lincoln, New Zealand.

Nti, I. K. (2019, April 15-16). Real-time monitoring of nitrate in 

groundwater using wireless sensor network. Poster presentation 

at the Institutes of Technology and Polytechnics (ITP) Research 

Symposium Whanaungatanga, Napier, New Zealand.

Papoutsaki, E., & Stansfield, J. (2019, July 9-13). Island festivals and 

sustainable economies: A Waiheke case study. Paper presented 

at the International Small Island Cultures (ISIC) Conference, 

Kingston, Jamaica.

Stansfield, J. (2019, June 24-26). Spinning rubbish into gold: A 

community development approach to social enterprise. Paper 

presented at the World Community Development Conference, 

Dundee, Scotland.

Torre-Williams, L., Reinke, J., Meynecke, J. O., & Martinez, E. (2019, 

October 8-11). East Australian humpback whales calving on the 

northern migration: Evidence from the Gold Coast Bay, Queensland, 

Australia. Paper presented at the World Whale Conference, 

Hervey Bay, Australia. 
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Torre-Williams, L., Reinke, J., Meynecke, J. O., Martinez, E., & Stockin, 

K. A. (2019, December 7-12). Calving during migration: Recovering 

humpback whales giving birth in unprotected waters. Paper 

presented at the World Marine Mammal Conference, Barcelona, 

Spain.

Wood, B. (2019, August 30-September 1). Creating voices in fiction 

and poetry. Workshop presented at the New Zealand Society of 

Authors (NZSA) NorthWrite Conference 2019, Whangārei, New 

Zealand. 

Wood, B. (2019, July 15-19). Dissenting voices. Paper presented at the 

Association for Commonwealth Literature and Language Studies 

(ACLALS) Conference, Auckland, New Zealand.

CREATIVE WORK
Clunie, L. (2010). First light [Silver gelatin print]. In Matariki music 

moon. Whangārei, New Zealand: Hangar Art Gallery, 7 Jun - 7Jul 

2019.

Clunie, L. (2010 - 2019). Veil (a study) [Gouache on silver gelatin 

print]. In Floribunda ii – homage to the botanical world. Whangārei, 

New Zealand: Megan Dickinson Gallery, 9 Aug - 7 Sep 2019.

Clunie, L. (2011). Dark matter [Archival inkjet print]; Solar flare 

[Archival inkjet print].  In Matariki music moon. Whangārei, New 

Zealand: Hangar Art Gallery, 7 Jun - 7Jul 2019.

Clunie, L. (2015). Untitled (after Talbot) [Gouache and graphite on 

archival inkjet print]. In Photospace 21st birthday. Wellington, New 

Zealand: Photospace Gallery, 6 Dec 2019 - 25 Jan 2020.

Clunie, L. (2019). An unsurpassed thrill (in Porirua East, July 1969) 

I-VI [Jpeg and word file]. In Promised the moon [art/exhibition 

website as an artwork with text], 20 Jun 2019 – ongoing. 

Retrieved from https://promisedthemoon.net.au/moon-stories/an-

unsurpassed-thrill-in-porirua-east-july-1969/.

 Clunie, L. (2019). An unsurpassed thrill (in Porirua East, July 1969) I 

[Archival inkjet print]; An unsurpassed thrill (in Porirua East, July 

1969) II [Archival inkjet print]; An unsurpassed thrill (in Porirua 

East, July 1969) III [Archival inkjet print]; An unsurpassed thrill (in 

Porirua East, July 1969) IV [Archival inkjet print]; An unsurpassed 

thrill (in Porirua East, July 1969) V [Archival inkjet print]; An 

unsurpassed thrill (in Porirua East, July 1969) VI [Archival inkjet 

print]. In Matariki music moon. Whangārei, New Zealand: Hangar 

Art Gallery, 7 Jun - 7 Jul 2019.

Clunie, L. (2019). The emperor [Silver gelatin print with hand colouring 

oils]. In The Laboratorium. Whangārei, New Zealand: Hangar Art 

Gallery, 1 Nov - 18 Nov 2019.

Clunie, L. (2019). Untitled (Scented gardens for the blind) [Silver 

gelatin print]. In Toi <> Kupu. Whangārei, New Zealand: Geoff 

Wilson Gallery, 6 - 15 Mar 2019.

Gibbs, M. (2019). Mapping [Etching. Edition of 12 prints]. In Mapping 

portfolio print exchange. Norman, OK: OU School of Visual Arts, 

University of Oklahoma, Dec 2019 -Jan 2020.

Henare, T. H. A. (2019). He iwi kotahi tātau [Ngatu, flax fibre, 

kōkōwai]. In Puhoro ō mua, Puhoro ki tua  - 9th International 

Indigenous Artists Gathering. Hamilton, New Zealand: Waikato 

Museum Te Whare Taonga o Waikato, 23 Nov 2019 - 23 Feb 2020.

Henare, T. H. A. (2019). Source of knowledge [Recycled woollen 

blanket]. In Te Manawa o Te Whāriki. Hamilton, New Zealand: 

Waikato Museum Te Whare Taonga o Waikato, 6 Jul - 1 Sep 2019.

Henare, T. H. A. (2019). Whakairo [Flax fibre, kōkōwai]. In Terenga Mai. 

Whangārei, New Zealand: Hihiaua Cultural Centre, 22 Jun - 5 Jul 

2019.

King, L. (2019). Kohu [Acrylic on board]. In Puhoro ō mua, Puhoro ki 

tua  - 9th International Indigenous Artists Gathering. Hamilton, New 

Zealand: Waikato Museum Te Whare Taonga o Waikato, 23 Nov 

2019 - 23 Feb 2020.

King, L. (2019). Mata [Acrylic on canvas]; Weaving [Acrylic on 

canvas]. In Tuia Tuia. Whangārei, New Zealand: Hihiaua Cultural 

Centre, Jun 2019.

King, L. (2019). Tahu [Acrylic on canvas]. In Toi Māori art market 2019. 

Wellington, New Zealand: Te Wharewaka o Pōneke, 22 – 24 Feb 

2019.

Looker, M. (2019). He tūmanako hou [Wood]. In Terenga Mai. 

Whangārei, New Zealand: Hihiaua Cultural Centre, 22 Jun - 5 Jul 

2019.

Looker, M. (2019). Tāne nui a Rangi [Plastic]. In Tāne nui a Rangi. 

Whangārei, New Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 12 – 20 Dec 2019.   

McManus, F. (2018). Acknowledging Tupaia [Wood cut and laser wood 

engraving on harakeke paper, 1/10]; Te ara whetū o te moana 

nui a kiwa [Wood cut and laser wood engraving on harakeke 

paper, 3/15]; Whakamahere 1 [Woodcut on harakeke paper, 1/1]; 

Whakamahere 2 [Woodcut on harakeke paper, 1/1]. In Toi Māori art 

market 2019. Wellington, New Zealand: Te Wharewaka o Pōneke, 

22 – 24 Feb 2019.

McManus, F. (2018). Te ara whetū o te moana nui a kiwa [Wood 

cut and laser wood engraving on harakeke paper, 2/15]. In the 

Haugesund International Festival of Artistic Relief Printing (HIT 

2019). Haugesund, Norway: Haugesund Billedgalleri, 10 May – 4 

Aug 2019.

McManus, F. (2019). Tuia [Woodcut]. In Indigenous mapping: Collecting 

truths: An international portfolio of prints. Whangārei, New Zealand: 

Geoff Wilson Gallery, 20 Jun - 16 Aug 2019.

Morgan, J. (2019). Interconnect pallaxitive [Interactive digital 

installation]. In Everything is connected.  Whangārei, New Zealand: 

Geoff Wilson Gallery, 21 May - 7 Jun 2019.

Morgan, J. (2019). Abstract distraction 100 day project [Printed series 

of digital images].In Toi <> Kupu. Whangārei, New Zealand: Geoff 

Wilson Gallery, 6 - 15 Mar 2019. 

Nikora, T. (2015). Te Ōhaki o Ngā Mātua Tangata [Ink on fabriano. 

Framed]. In Terenga Mai. Whangārei, New Zealand: Hihiaua 

Cultural Centre, 22 Jun - 5 Jul 2019.

Research Outputs 2019 continued ...
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Research Outputs 2019 continued ...

Nikora, T. (2018). Ka Ihia [Totara, nylon, glass, wood, acrylic]. In Toi 

Māori art market 2019. Wellington, New Zealand: Te Wharewaka o 

Pōneke, 22 – 24 Feb 2019.

Nikora, T. (2019). He ao!! He ao!! [Acrylic on board]. In Tuia Te Muka 

Tangata. Whangārei, New Zealand: Hihiaua Cultural Centre, 24 Oct 

- 28 Nov 2019.

Nikora, T. (2019). Ngaro Huruhuru [Beeswax]. In Everything is 

connected. Whangārei, New Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 21 May 

- 7 Jun 2019.

Nikora, T. (2019). Papatūānuku ā tōna wā. [Acrylic on board]; Te Kahu 

o Te Ao [Rexlace on canvas]. In Nature needs us. Whangārei, New 

Zealand: Quest Art Space, 12 Sep - 6 Oct 2019.

Nikora, T. (2019). Pūkāea [Glass, wood, cord]. In Collaborationz. 

Whangārei, New Zealand: Forum North, 16 Mar 2019.  

Nikora, T. (2019). Tā Waha 0.2 & Tā Waha 0.3 [Cord]. In Tā Waha & He 

mea o Toi. Whangārei, New Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 28 Mar 

- 10 May 2019. 

Nikora, T. (2019). Tā Waha 0.4 [Cord]. In Tūrama Festival. Auckland, 

New Zealand: Albert Park, 26 - 28 Jul 2019.

Nikora, T. (2019). He Whakaiti [Ukulele carved]. In Te Ahuareka o Ngāti 

Hine. Kawakawa, New Zealand: Kings Theatre Gallery, 15 Oct - 30 

Oct 2019.

Ormsby, J. (2019). The House of Te A [4 works, mixed media on paper]. 

In Auckland art fair. Auckland, New Zealand: The Cloud, 28 Apr - 3 

May 2019.

Ormsby, J. (2019). The House of Te A (L.D.26 + 27) [Mixed media on 

paper]. In 2019 Parkin drawing award. Wellington, New Zealand: 

New Zealand Academy of Fine Arts: Academy Galleries, Jun - Jul 

2019. 

Ormsby, J. (2019). The House of Te A [4 works, mixed media on paper]. 

In Te Rangi haupapa – a woven history. Tauranga, New Zealand: 

Tauranga Art Gallery, 19 Oct 2019 - 8 Mar 2020.

Smith, E. (2019). Bicultural visual homonyms [Photographic jewellery]. 

In Adorn. Whangārei, New Zealand: Megan Dickinson Gallery, 8 

Feb - 9 Mar 2019.

Smith, E. (2019). Bicultural visual homonyms [Photographic jewellery]. 

In Toi <> Kupu. Whangārei, New Zealand: Geoff Wilson Gallery, 6 - 

15 Mar 2019.

Smith, E. (2019). Icarus – dogs paw [Photography]. In Photospace 

21st birthday. Wellington, New Zealand: Photospace Gallery, 6 Dec 

2019 - 25 Jan 2020.

Smith, E. (2019). Kapowai – for Tim [Photography]. In Floribunda ii – 

homage to the botanical world. Whangārei, New Zealand: Megan 

Dickinson Gallery, 9 Aug - 7 Sep 2019.

Smith, E. & Tuato’o Ross, C. (2019). Exercise in reduction: 

Reproduction (minor triumphs, temporary recognition, forgotten 

glory) [Photography]. In Partial loss: Exercises in reduction. 

Auckland, New Zealand: Photoforum, May 2019. Retrieved from 

https://www.photoforum-nz.org/blog/2019/5/13/cathy-tuatoo-

ross-and-ellen-smith-featured-portfolio

JOURNAL ARTICLE
Barber, J. (2019). Mountain oratory. Fast Fibres Poetry: Poetry from 

Northland, 6.

Bruce-Iri, P. (2109). Change and the climate crisis: Aligning 

urgency and agency. Scope: Flexible Learning 4: Strategies. 

Retrieved from https://www.thescopes.org/assets/Uploads/

ScopeFlexibleLearnging4_Peter-Bruce-Iri.pdf   

Bruce-Iri, P. (2019, September/October). Tai Tokerau 2050. Organic 

NZ, 78(5), 8.

Fiori, L., Martinez, E., Orams, M. B., & Bollard, B. (2019). Effects of 

whale-based tourism in Vava’u, Kingdom of Tonga: Behavioural 

responses of humpback whales to vessel and swimming tourism 

activities. PLOS ONE, 14(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.

pone.0219364

Fiori, L., Martinez, E., Bader, M. K.-F., Orams, M. B., & B. Bollard. 

(2019). Insights into the use of an unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) 

to investigate the behavior of humpback whales (Megaptera 

novaeangliae) in Vava’u, Kingdom of Tonga. Marine Mammal 

Science, 36(1), 209-223. 

Hewagama, G., Boxall, P., Cheung, G., & Hutchinson, A. (2019). 

Service recovery through empowerment? HRM, employee 

performance and job satisfaction in hotels. International Journal of 

Hospitality Management, 81, 73-82.

Lockwood, N. (2019, July/September). Africa changed me. Travel 

Africa, 87, 26.

Mackay, B., & Harding, T. (2019). Registered nurses perceptions of 

the transferability of new graduate registered nurses skills across 

healthcare settings. Open Journal of Nursing, 9(10). doi:10.4236/

ojn.2019.910080

Marshall, L. (2019, Autumn). One thousand days. New Zealand Author, 

316, 42-43.

Marshall, L. (2019, Winter). Nedim Türfent. New Zealand Author, 317, 4.

Marshall, L. (2019, Summer). A poetry memorial. New Zealand Author, 

319, 43-44.

Marshall, L. (2019, November). Editing dilemmas around rose names. 

Heritage Roses: New Zealand Journal, 45(1).

Pohe, S. R., Winterbourn, M. J., Goldstein, S. J., Ball, O. J.-P., & 

Harding, J. S. (2019). Distribution, nymphal habitat, genetic 

structure and conservation of the New Zealand mayfly Isothraulus 

abditus (Insecta: Ephemeroptera) and a description of its 

subimago. New Zealand Journal of Zoology, 46(1), 13-30.    https://

doi.org/10.1080/03014223.2018.1464034

Stansfield, J. (2019). The rise and fall and rise again of an 

environmental social enterprise. (With apologies to the makers of 

The Fall and Rise of Reginald Perrin, one of my favourite British 

comedy series). Whanake: The Pacific Journal of Community 

Development, 5(1), 53–66. Retrieved from https://www.unitec.

ac.nz/whanake/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Whanake5.1-

Stansfield.pdf
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Stansfield, J. (2019). The year of many changes [Editorial]. 

Whanake: The Pacific Journal of Community Development, 5(1), 5. 

Retrieved from https://www.unitec.ac.nz/whanake/wp-content/

uploads/2020/02/Whanake5.1.pdf

Tempero, G. W., Hicks, B. J., Ling, N., Morgan, D., Daniel, A. J., 

Özkundakci, D., &  David, B. (2019). Fish community responses 

to invasive fish removal and installation of an exclusion barrier 

at Lake Ōhinewai, Waikato. New Zealand Journal of Marine and 

Freshwater Research, 53(3), 397-415.

Torre-Williams, L., Martinez, E., Meynecke, J. O., Reinke, J., & Stockin, 

K. A. (2019). Presence of newborn humpback whale (Megaptera 

novaeangliae) calves in Gold Coast Bay, Australia. Marine and 

Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology, 52(5), 199-216.

Wood, B. (2019). A house-warming. Turbine / Kapohau: A New Zealand 

Journal of New Writing, 19. Retrieved from http://turbinekapohau.

org.nz/2019-contents-poetry-briar-wood/

Wood, B. (2019, March 7). Kōrero: Briar Wood with Vaughan 

Rapatahana. Flash Frontier: An Adventure in Short Fiction. 

Retrieved from https://www.flash-frontier.com/2019/03/07/

korero-briar-wood/

Wood, B. (2019). Skep. Turbine / Kapohau: A New Zealand Journal 

of New Writing, 19. Retrieved from http://turbinekapohau.org.

nz/2019-contents-poetry-briar-wood/

Wood, B. (2019). Tamariki in a tītoki. Fast Fibres Poetry: Poetry from 

Northland, 6.

ORAL PRESENTATIONS
Christian, L. (2019, February 13).  Building resilience through spiritual 

care preparation of undergraduate nurses. Presentation at the 

NorthTec Nursing Showcase, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Clunie, L. (2019, September 7). Artist floor talk presented at the 

Floribunda ii – homage to the botanical world exhibition, Megan 

Dickinson Gallery, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Davison, J. (2019, August 16). Anxiety, depression and suicide risk 

assessment: A refresher. Workshop presented at the NorthTec 

School of Nursing, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Davison, J. (2019, March 20).  Depression and suicide risk assessment. 

Presentation at the Northland District Health Board New Graduate 

Nurse Programme (NETP), Whangārei, New Zealand.

Davison, J. (2019, February 13).  How well are we teaching this life-

saving skill? A review of the teaching of suicide-risk assessment 

in NZ schools of nursing. Presentation at the NorthTec Nursing 

Showcase, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Derrick, K. (2019, November 16). Shifting gears: Transforming your 

stories from good to great. Presentation at Three Mountains Brew 

Shop and Gallery, Maungatāpere, New Zealand.

Harding, T. (2019, August 16). More bang for your buck. Workshop 

presented at the NorthTec School of Nursing, Whangārei, New 

Zealand.

Marshall, L. (2019, October 15). Report writing: New Zealand style, 

grammar and other issues. Presentation at Maungatāpere School, 

Maungatāpere, New Zealand.

Morgan, J. (2019, May 21–June 7). Artist floor talk presented at 

the Everything is connected exhibition, Geoff Wilson Gallery, 

Whangārei, New Zealand. 

Morgan, J. (2019, July 13). Glitch art and 100 day projects online. 

Artist floor talk presented at the Plunge! Indie Comic Convention, 

OneOneSix, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Morgan, J. (2019, May 14). Green screen workshop. Workshop 

presented at StrandLab, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Munro, V. (2019, February 13). Traversing the evidence for practice 

terrain within the BN at NorthTec. Presentation at the NorthTec 

Nursing Showcase, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Newport, R. J. (2019, September 25). What are the early sport and 

play experiences of elite New Zealand hockey players from rural 

and regional communities? Presentation at Hockey New Zealand, 

Auckland, New Zealand. 

Raven, A. (2019, November 5). Managing interpersonal and workplace 

conflict. Presentation and workshop at Conflict Management 

in the Workplace and Interpersonal Relationships, NorthTec, 

Whangārei, New Zealand.

Tatton, B. (2019, February 27). Nursing preceptorship. Presentation 

at the Ryman Ed Hillary Rest Home & Hospital, Auckland, New 

Zealand.

Tatton, B. (2019, August 6). Nursing preceptorship. Presentation 

at the Ryman Ed Hillary Rest Home & Hospital, Auckland, New 

Zealand.

Tatton, B. (2019, November 12). Nursing preceptorship. Presentation 

at the Ryman Ed Hillary Rest Home & Hospital, Auckland, New 

Zealand.

Wood, B. (2019, May 1). Kūmara hōu; Kuramārōtini; Solstice dolphins; 

Sprats and Tai [Poetry Reading]. Lounge #67: A poetry reading, 

University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

Wood, B. (2019, August 23). Tamariki in a tītoki  [Poetry reading]. 

Fast Fibres Poetry Six: Phantom Billstickers National Poetry Day, 

Butter Factory Cave, Whangārei, New Zealand. 

OTHER FORM OF ASSESSABLE OUTPUT
Begman, M.-M. (2019, November 9). Saturday short story: 

Botched. Retrieved from https://www.newsroom.

co.nz/2019/11/09/891331/saturday-short-story-botched-by-

marino-moana-begman#

Begman, M.-M. (2019). Jump [Play]. Available from https://www.

dramanotebook.com/

Bell, Z. & G. Stewart. (2019, April). Flash Frontier: An Adventure in 

Short Fiction [Guest Editors]. Retrieved from https://www.flash-

frontier.com/guest-editors/
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Christian, L. (2019). Potter and Perry’s fundamentals of nursing (6th 

[ANZ] ed.) [Peer Reviewer].

Davison, J. (2019). Journal of Clinical Nursing [Peer Reviewer]. 

Derrick, K. (2019, August 30). Creative Writing Student Hui [Hui 

Organiser]. NorthTec, Whangārei, New Zealand. 

Derrick, K. (2019, August 30-September 1). New Zealand Society 

of Authors (NZSA) NorthWrite Conference 2019 [Conference 

Organiser]. Whangārei, New Zealand.

Goodwin, G. (2019). Deer mouse vs. the world [Play]. Retrieved from  

https://www.dramanotebook.com/plays-for-kids/deer-mouse-vs-

the-world/

Henare, T. H. A. (2019, October 15-30). Auhuareka exhibition [Co-

curator]. Kings Theatre Gallery, Kawakawa, New Zealand.

Henare, T. H. A. (2019). Rēwiti Marae Tukutuku project [Project Co-

ordinator]. Rēwiti Marae, Waimauku, New Zealand. 

Henare, T. H. A. (2019, February, May, August). Te Awe phase 2 

project [Taumata Māreikura Team Member]. Tāmaki Paenga Hira 

Auckland War Memorial Museum, Auckland, New Zealand.

Mackay, B. J. (2019). Nurse Education in Practice [Peer Reviewer].

Marshall, L. (2019, August 30). Creative Writing Student Hui 

[Organising Committee Member]. NorthTec, Whangārei, New 

Zealand. 

Marshall, L. (2019). Heritage Roses: New Zealand [Co-editor]. 

Heritage Roses New Zealand, Auckland, New Zealand.

Marshall, L. (2019, August 30-September 1). New Zealand Society 

of Authors (NZSA) NorthWrite Conference 2019 [Organising 

Committee Member]. Whangārei, New Zealand.

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book Ambulance care essentials, 

by K. Lethbridge & R. Pilbery]. Class Publishing (2015).

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book Casualty care for fire and 

rescue, by S. Todd, K. Lethbridge & R. Pilbery]. Jones & Bartlett 

Learning (2018).

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book Essentials of anatomy 

and physiology for nursing practice, by J. Boore, N. Cook & A. 

Shepherd]. SAGE Publications (2016).

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book Essentials of mental health 

nursing, by K. Wright & M. McKeown]. SAGE Publications (2018).

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book First responder care 

essentials, by K. Lethbridge & R. Pilbery]. (2015). Available from 

https://www.classprofessional.co.uk/shop/products/204308/

first-responder-care-essentials

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book Physical assessment 

for nurses and healthcare professsionals, by C. L. Cox]. Wiley-

Blackwell (2019).

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book The Royal Marsden manual 

of clinical procedures  (Professional edition), by L. Dougherty, S. 

Lister & A. West-Oram]. Wiley-Blackwell (2015).

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book The Royal Marsden manual 

of clinical procedures (Student edition), by L. Dougherty, S. Lister 

& A. West-Oram]. Wiley-Blackwell (2015).

McGivern, M. (2019). [Review of the book Understanding 

pathophysiology (Australia & New Zealand edition), by J. Craft, C. 

Gordon, S. Huether, K. McCance & V. Brashers]. Elsevier (2019).

McGivern, M., Morgan, G., Abplanalp, J.-L., & Webster, A. (2019, 

April 9). Clinical reasoning: Learning to think like a nurse (2nd 

ed.) [Video File]. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/

watch?v=OxKILfnHM1k&t=286s

Morgan, J. (2019, November 6). ADA open sandwich for Northland 

[Host and Facilitator]. OneOneSix, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Morgan, J. (2019, September 26). BYO beamer [Event Organiser]. 

Creative Technology Northland, OneOneSix, Whangārei, New 

Zealand. 

Morgan, J. (2019, May 21–June 7). Everything is connected [Curator - 

Group Exhibition]. Geoff Wilson Gallery, Whangārei, New Zealand.  

Roadley, R. (2019). Dahlias for dementia: Garden & house 

tour 2020 [Website Design]. Retrieved from http://www.

alzheimersnorthland.org.nz/events/dahlias-for-dementia/

Roche, L. (2019, April 28). Paw power – the healing power of 

pets. The Northern Advocate. Retrieved from https://www.

nzherald.co.nz/northern-advocate/news/article.cfm?c_

id=1503450&objectid=12224900

Smith, E. (2019, June 20-August 16). Atlas [Curator - Group 

Exhibition]. Geoff Wilson Gallery, Whangārei, New Zealand.

Stansfield, J. (2019). Whanake: The Pacific Journal of Community 

Development [Editor]. Unitec Institute of Technology, Auckland, 

New Zealand.

Wood, B. (2019, May 22-26). Contemporary writing in New Zealand 

[Chairperson]. The International Book Arsenal Festival, Kyiv, 

Ukraine. 

Wood, B. (2019, November 8-9). One world [Poem: video projection]. 

The U2 Joshua Tree  Tour Concert, Auckland, New Zealand.

THESIS
Bennett, M. J. (2019). The impact of automated external defibrillators 

in non-traumatic community cardiac arrests (Unpublished 

master’s thesis). University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

Newport, R. J. (2019). What are the early sport and play experiences 

of elite New Zealand hockey players from rural and regional 

communities? (Master’s thesis, Auckland University of 

Technology, Auckland, New Zealand). Retrieved from https://

openrepository.aut.ac.nz/handle/10292/12799
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Diploma in Applied Arts  
(Digital Arts)
Tyler Jacob Arnold

Chris Stephen Boys

Diploma in Applied Writing 
(Level 5)
Leicester Michael Clarke

Louise Joy Houltham

Mirinoa Cassandra Pickering

Ilyn Carol Signal

Storm Corina Thomasson

Joanne Beryl Vernon

Diploma in Applied Writing  
(Level 6)
Douglas Perenara Johnston

Megan Faye Kemplay

Carol-Anne Tate

Diploma in Advanced  
Applied Writing
Julia Anna Barber

Gemma-Marie Brylee Te-Roti Goodwin

Irene Patricia Karaitiana

Lauren Kim Roche

New Zealand Diploma in 
Agribusiness Management  
(Level 5)
Brenda Joanne Crawford

Lorraine Elizabeth Ferreira

Taylor Lilian Finlayson

Vaughan Lyle Nattrass

Jonathan Paul Nyhuis

Carla Lynette Preston

Pia Johanna Rockell

Gareth Donald Walters

New Zealand Diploma in Cookery 
(Advanced) (Level 5)
Rajat Arora

Xiaoen Chen

Leah Joy Rachel Land

Jesse Alan Laurenson

Chantra Nei

Rahul Parel

Amal Payyana Sunil

Arashdeep Singh

Eakamvir Singh

New Zealand Diploma in Creative 
Writing (Level 6) 
Nikki Sue Rose Lockwood

Emma Jane Masson-Oakden

Natalia Marie Shoemark

Magan Szentesi

Phoenix Szentesi

New Zealand Diploma in Te Reo 
me Nga Tikanga (Level 5)
Chevelle Novina Aupouri

Tina Sharlene Baines

Jessica Holly Bates

Te Rata Rangi Pihoihoi Boldy

Troy Piripi Brockbank

Debra Dorrington

Amber-Leigh Christine Marie Evans

Nita Jacquiline Fairburn

Katie Jean Forno

Jessica Jordan Fox

Blanche Ngahiraka Frost

Catherine Philippa Mary Hannken

Echo Isobel Haronga

Sharon Marie Hathaway

Tureya Healey-Diaz

Adrion Monty Hemara

Nicholas Rob Johnston

Teagan Wendy Valarie Kauri

Victor Morgan Kendall

Yuka Kurihara

Celine Vanessa Littlejohn

Simone Una Littlejohn

Aileen Joy Mahanga

Rose Raumati Mark

Sharrne Sarahanne Minhinnick

Eleanor Elizabeth Jacobs Moloney

Carrie Joan Nuku

Racheal Edna-Mary Nuku

Wendy Maewa Nuku

Moana Diane Oh

Tamalene Tearoha Painting

Mary Pou-Brown

Jessica Aroha Hope Reid

Darcey Dion Samuels

Olivia Anne Evans Schertenleib

Joanne Myra Shelford

Wayne Thomas Shelford

Georgina Marjorie Stewart

Renoir Paenui Tapurau

George Victor Te Haara

Lanita Faith Waata

Takapari Waata

Michael Wihongi-Cannon

New Zealand Diploma in Tourism 
and Travel (Level 6)
Chuang Chen

Tianyi Chen

Jiantao Hua

Yian Lin

Mengmeng Luo

Yuchen Pu

Qinyi Tang

Zhaoyang Tong

Jinming Yu

Jing Zhang
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New Zealand Diploma in 
Writing for Creative Industries 
(Level 5)
Stephen Charles Allen

Mere Oriwa Pehi

Bachelor of Applied Arts 
(Digital)
Threy Russell Cameron

Ihipera Te Aroha Keefe

Grant Jerome Matthews

Jared Roy McGiven

Torben James McLean Morrison

Joe Henry Rua Paikea

Bachelor of Applied Arts 
(Visual)
Jolene Lesley Pascoe

Isaiah Matthew Rameka

Bachelor of Nursing
Mikaela Amina Rae Beazley-Tango

Fiona Alison Bond

Kayla Elizabeth Boswell

Beibhinn Lee Bristow

Karen Fleur Elizabeth Burnard

Norma-Jean Carter

Ching Yan Cheung

Morgan Thomas Collett

Melissa Ann Cunningham

Stephanie May Donelley

Tayla Shade Dunn

Megan Jean Evans

Stephanie May Flis

Holly-Anne Foster-over de Linden

Holly Maree Frood

Ruth Margaret Gamble

Margaret Alison Gerrand

Peter Phillip Getz

Ngarissa Maree Gorrie

Tawera William Koperu Henare

Ripeka Mele-Jane Hepi

Georgia May Higgins

Tiechar Ruby Pearl Hill

Wharenikau Eve Hing

Patricia Holyoake

Jessica Susan Howell

Kristina Hunt

Solly Joseph

Tracy Anne  Juddery

Elsa Puran Kholdi

Myungok Kim

Pei Wen Lee

Alicia Ruth Littlejohn

Kathrin Marie Lorenz

Sania Mabel Tupe Makaua

Densy Manjaly Mattathy Davis

Stacey June Marino

Rosalie Maureen McCabe

Elizabeth Kathryn Murray

Brooke Neighbour

Melinda Mary Neville

Catherine Marie Nock

Iti Pounamu-Mai-Tawhiti Mereana Papuni

Dianna Peni

Jolene Aroha Phillips

Suzanne Michelle Poole

Nadia Te Rangihaua Price

Mataroria Rawhiti

Roslyn Sandra Reid

Rebeka Remillard

Linda Helen Schoeneborn

Katie Louise Seabrook

Tintu Sejin

Emma Carol Shayler

Julie Anne Sloan

Sharon Leslie Stevenson

Ruby Jane Taylor

Sian Huhana Anne Telfer

Renee Christina Thomas

Daryn Jeremiah Thompson

Emma Marie Patricia Thornton

Emily Rose Tobin-Thorpe

Sony Vellattukudy Devassy

Ashneet Avneel Verma

Sharon Louise Wallace

Laura Rose Walsh-Fisher

Frederick Karl Weber

Trudy Joy Williams

Spartiane Winwood

Hyejung Yu

Diploma in Sport and 
Recreation 
Devon Jean Finlayson

Ngaire-Ani Lee Mehana

Alberto Pascal

Chen Yuan

New Zealand Diploma in 
Architectural Technology  
(Level 6) 
Lara Marie Bennetto

Jeremiah Cornerstone Gauniqio

Mark Graham

Javier Ignacio Jarufe Garate

Zhaobin Li

Matei Ioan Paveluc

Rowan Roy Vendt

Dianne Waters

Shani Te Oraiti Wehi

Nan Zhang

 

New Zealand Institute of 
Management - Diploma in 
Management 

Lianne Rae Fromont

Keali’i David Siamani Leuluai

Tanankorn Pakpop

Hannah Margaret Snowdon

 

New Zealand Institute of 
Management - Diploma in 
Practice Management 
(Health) 

Susan Elizabeth Fox

Keren Hoogwerf

 

New Zealand Diploma 
in Business (Level 5) 
(Accounting) 

Jacqui Cole

Amy Jade De Klerk

Jessie Kamiria Karena-Wijohn

Sharon Catharina Adriana Klijn

Ashley Mary Anne MacDonald

Emmajean Desiree Mason

Te Aroha Atiria Te Pania

Piet Wynand Verberne

Jane Lynette Walter

 

New Zealand Diploma 
in Business (Level 5) 
(Administration and 
Technology) 
Kylie Jean Rae

 

New Zealand Diploma in 
Business (Level 5) (Leadership 
and Management) 

Ebon Nathaniel Rainbow Bennett

Arnica Layne Davis

Sophie Lily Howell

Ian Melvin Lobo

Michaela Jean McCracken

Amy Tamera Scott

Jaya Smith-Sadler

Shinae Caroline Judy Terekia

Kelly Simone Tipene
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New Zealand Diploma in 
Business (Level 6) 

Natasha Frances Allnutt

Inderjeet Kaur Brar

Samantha Chapman

Catherine Marie Nilsson

Anna Maria Joy Sadlier

Arshdeep Singh

Gurpreet Singh

Gursewak Singh

Harmeet Singh

Shubham Singh

Fanli Zhou

New Zealand Diploma in 
Construction (Level 6) 

Palika Angurala

Sameep Rana Angurala

Melisa Rochelle Arland 

Yashkumar Sunilbhai Bhatt

Leonard Johannes Haasbroek

Pankaj Kumar

Sumit Kumar 

Prutha Chitrang Panchal 

Nandhu Radhamma Vijay

Rathnayake Mudiyanselage Krishni  
    Savithri Rathnayake

Suraj Sharma 

Jaskaran Singh

Prabhjot Singh

 

New Zealand Diploma in 
Engineering (Civil) 

Trent Patrick Hamilton Blakeman

Brian Martin Child

Bryce Robert Coughlan

Bhupinder Singh Gill

David Thomas Platt

Sukhman

Yuang Wei

 

New Zealand Diploma in 
Environmental Management 
(Level 5) 
Te Arai Diane Beirne

Joshua James Bisset

Suzette Janice Frost

Mitchel Zane Hanmore

Taylor Antje Kees

Anju Lama Nepali

Anasetasia Levi

Gurmanjit Singh Minhas

Isabella Chelsea Pullman

Evan Bradshaw Thom

Sonali Yadav

Gypsy Taryna Ziarh

New Zealand Diploma in 
Environmental Management 
(Level 6) 
Joanna Jane Carthew Skyrme

Leslie Joan Graney

Satchet Bertrand Guilloux

Kelsie Joelle Hackett

Warren Arthur Horne

Steven Eric Johnson

Samantha Joy McAulay

Loren Talbot

 

New Zealand Diploma in 
Software Development  
(Level 6) 
Parth Arora

Arshdeep

Rhythm Bajaj

Ashish Singh Dangi

Vishal Garg

Rashandeep Kaur Gill

Sahil Jain

Parteek Singh Kahlon

Nishant Katwal

Harmanpreet Kaur

Simratpal Kaur

Parminder Singh Khehra

Vaibhav Malhotra

Nisarg Sanjay Patel

Harmandeep Singh Randhawa

Bhupinder Singh Sandhu

Karanjeet Singh Sandhu

Neil Bimalkumar Shah

Amritpal Singh

Gurkirat Singh

Harmandeep Singh

Jaydeep Singh

Karanbir Singh

Lovedeep Singh

Pushpinder  Singh

Sampreet Singh

Vishal Singh

Manish Uprety

Kurul Ashokkumar Vyas

Maharshi Ravindrakumar Zanje

New Zealand Diploma in Sport, 
Recreation and Exercise  
(Level 5) 
Bronwyn Camelia Teiria Batchelor

Jamie Hugh Batchelor

Kahi Te Rakaunui Elliott

Ashleigh Nicole Ellis

Kani Sailor Epiha

Waikauri Jarrod Hetaraka

Hollie Michelle Hunt

Zhizhong Jian

Ryan Tainui Nehemia Karaka

Jamie Andrew Levy

Carl Peter Mansell

Arahia Moanaroa-Leismann

MacKenzie Alexandra Nicolle

Trinity Peirson-Harrop

Joshua Clinton Prince

Amrinder Singh

Bryan Derrick Stanford

Floyd Arthur James Tetai

Ezra Leslie Tyree

Xi Xu

New Zealand Diploma in Sport, 
Recreation and Exercise  
(Level 6) 

Liting Guo

Chontelle Matina Jenkins

Cullen Wilson Lowe

Georgia Caitlin Pringle

Pranav Singh

Mikaere Hemi Wiki

Chongjing Yao

 

New Zealand Diploma in Web 
Development and Design  
(Level 5) 

Manoj Dhungel

Yingyan Feng

Vishal Garg

Daril George

Nirajan Kumal

Romnuel Jude Lim

Jaydip Kamleshbhai Malaviya
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Dhruveshkumar Dineshbhai Patel

Jamahl Jordan Te Aniwa Perana

Reshmaben Aaditya Rathod

Pushpinder  Singh

Tom Ariki Van der Drift

Keiran Henderson Weir

Debao Zhang

 

Graduate Diploma in 
Accounting  
Sarah Eileen Gray (with Merit)

Graduate Diploma in 
Business  
Jayanti Acharya Poudel

Cyrus Aranha (with Merit)

Shalini Arora

Shilpa Arora

Dashmeet Singh Bindra

Aksheshkumar Maheshbhai Chaudhari

Piladuwa Maha De Silva

Dharmik Paresh Doshi

Julita Hanum (with Distinction)

Sagar Bipinkumar Jha
Uluvitiya Gamage Vindya Shashikala 
   Kariyawasam

Sarabjeet Kaur

Rejina Khadka

Disha Kohli

Ramit Kumar

Ishita Jaimin Manwar

Aniket Satishkumar Patel

Nikita Dilipkumar Patel

Tarulkumar Laxmanbhai Patel

Mamta Patial

Nikhil Prasad

Satmeet Singh Sethi

Raunaq Pal  Singh

Yue Sun

Tiange Wang

Zihan Wang

Jiangying Wenyan

Yongchang Xian

Peng Zhang

Graduate Diploma in Business 
Information Systems 

Lu Jing

Parwinder Kaur

Roshan Abraham Kottappallil

Vishakha Ashok Nevarekar

Alpana Panwar

Gurpreet Singh

Jaswinder Singh

Amy Sleeper

Daniya Thomas

Shalu Saileshkumar Trivedi

Reshla Dinali Wisidagamage Don  
   (with Distinction)

Yupeng Zhai

 

Graduate Diploma in 
Information Technology 
Prashant Hukamchand Agrawal

Mailine Guerra

Zhipeng Hou

Jaspreet Kaur

Mandeep Kaur

Namit Shilotri

 

Graduate Diploma in Project 
Management 

Pratika Sanjeshni Devi (with Distinction)

Sembukutti Arachchige Gunawardane

Amarjeet Singh Jandu

Karen Denise Lees (with Distinction)

Gajendra Namdeorao Mohite

Pruthvi Nareshkumar Patel

Stavan Shaileshkumar Rao

Jaspreet Singh

 

Graduate Diploma in Sales and 
Marketing 

Akash Sharma

Kunal Chopra

Oshadhi Bernadine De Silva

Bhavya Girishbhai Doshi

Prasad Bhimrao Gaikwad

Krunal Jayantkumar Shah

Gengwanbang Shu

Harminder Singh

Bachelor of Applied 
Management  
Binbin Chen

Sheng Tse Chen

Quan Dong

Xin Qi

Yu Qiu

Sarabjit Singh

Rahul Vij

Sirui Wang

Xiaoling Xie

Liqun Zhong

Bachelor of Applied 
Management 
(Accounting) 

Deriarny Joy Evitts 

 

Bachelor of Applied 
Management (Business 
Information Systems) 

Amandeep Kaur

Jiaming Yang

 

Bachelor of Applied 
Management (Business 
Transformation Change) 

Zane Kumar (with Merit)

 

Bachelor of Applied 
Management (Project 
Management) 

Haomin Zhang

Haoming Zhu

 

Bachelor of Applied 
Management (Double Major 
in Project Management and 
Business Transformation and 
Change) 

Brittany Crowe (with Merit)

Sesha Shivonne Maraea Perkinson  
   (with Distinction)

Bachelor of Applied Social 
Service (Social Work) 

Marie Denise Bilich

Tyra-Lee La-Quan Brown-Ngakoti

Caitlyn Timalo Comer

Amy Louise Cullen

Tura Anne Francis Hau

Rachel-Keziah Herbert

Puawai Rose Leuluai-Walker

Hiria Te Aau Ruawai Livingstone

Sheryl Ann Marie Makiha

Kayla Simone McKeeman

Gail Margaret Panoutsos

Joanne Marie Parker

Kyung Ah Seo

Jennita Mary-Lee Starr

Paulina Stolz

Shalah May van de Looveren

Geneva Ngaranoa Woonton
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Kayla Boswell 
Bachelor of Nursing graduate



Professional Services

Bankers
Bank of New Zealand

Cnr. Bank Street and Rust Avenue
PO Box 644

Whangārei
Telephone 09 438 4199

Solicitors
Thomson Wilson
Rathbone Street

PO Box 1042
Whangārei

Telephone 09 438 4039

Statutory Auditors
Audit New Zealand

Mana Arotake Aotearoa
Level 6

280 Queen Street
Private Box 1165

Auckland 1140
Telephone 09 373 5457
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